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I am pleased to be able to present the Annual Report for the Grampians Central 
West Waste and Resource Recovery Group for the year ending 30 June 2019. 
This is in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, beyond which I 
hope it also provides some update on how we are making ground on the task of 
reducing waste to landfill and increasing resources recovery.

2018-19 has continued to see resource recovery in the region impacted by 
China’s National Sword Policy. Recognising the potential challenges for the 
Grampians Central West region, a feasibility study was commissioned in 2018 
to look into the opportunities to develop recycling and organics infrastructure in 
the region. This study has prompted further work into the positive development 
of a business case for a material recycling facility in Ballarat along with interest in 
setting up more localised organics infrastructure across the region. 

With the release of the Victorian Government’s Recycling Industry Strategic Plan 
in July 2018, the Group initiated the collaborative procurement program with all 
councils across the region. Work has continued on this throughout the year with 
8 councils now working towards collaborative procurement for landfill, recycling 
and green waste collection and procurement services. This program will be 
completed in 2019-20.  

With the development of a state circular economy policy, the Group has also 
started work on looking at how this can benefit the region. Along with continuing 
on the implementation of the RWRRIP, the opportunity to implement a circular 
economy approach to regional waste and resource recovery has been and will 
continue to be a focus for the group. 

Grampians Central West WRRG has continued to work on priority areas include 
developing plans for regional collaborative procurement, develop a benchmark 
audit plan for waste and recycling across the region, identifying statutory 
planning issues around waste infrastructure, undertaking risk assessments for 
closed landfills across the region and assisting local government develop their 
own waste management plans that will feed into the first review of the RWRRIP. 

The Local Government Forum was revamped in 2018-19 to reflect the needs of 
our local government stakeholders and has been a success with a greater focus 
on education and opportunities to work more collaboratively to improve waste 
and resource recovery services across the region. I thank the Chair Tom Sullivan 
for the great work this group has been doing.

The Local Government Technical Officer Advisory Group (TARG) continued 
with a lot of positive work in 2018-19. In particular the establishment of the 
collaborative procurement program that will now involve 8 councils in the region 
for the provision of landfill, recycling and green waste collection and processing 
services.  

The continued success of the ResourceSmart Schools program has seen the 
number of active schools continue to grow across the region. A highlight of the 

year was the first regional ResourceSmart School awards held across 2 locations 
at Longerenong and Narmbool and involving more than 250 students. 

Grampians Central West WRRG has also continued a strong community 
engagement program with a successful social media program to complement 
a presence at a variety of events across the region. The launch of the Can Do 
Communities program has resulted in direct engagement through activities such 
as Boomerang Bags, Repair Cafes, Community composting just to name a few. 
The first Sustainable Fashion Week, focussing on the problem of textile and 
clothing waste, was also held in Ballarat and a range of smaller communities from 
Daylesford to Trentham and Bacchus Marsh in August. More than 500 people 
participated in a range of talks, demonstrations and workshops over the five-day 
event.

The board have continued to work well together over the 2018-19 year and 
with Grampians Central West WRRG maintaining an effective and stable board. 
I would like to thank my fellow board members, , Cr Kevin Erwin, Cr Belinda 
Coates, Cr Corinne Heintze, Paddy Goodall, Rob Miller, Robyn Evans and Bridget 
Wetherall for their support and dedication over the past 12 months. I would also 
like to acknowledge the service of former board members Noel Perry and Jeff 
Rigby for their service. 

On behalf of the Board I sincerely thank our Executive Officer, La Vergne 
Lehmann and all the staff for a great year’s work. I would also like to thank my 
fellow Directors, Forum representatives and their Advisors as well as the Officers 
of the Department of Environment Land Water and Planning, Sustainability 
Victoria, other Waste and Resource Recovery Groups and the EPA who have 
been working with us throughout.

Sebastian Klein 
Chairperson, Grampians Central West WRRG 
2 September 2019

1. Chairpersons Message
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We continue to work on implementing the first Grampians Central West Regional 
Implementation Plan. The key projects that we have been focussing on over the 
2018-19 year include the planning and development of recycling and organic 
infrastructure in the region, collaborative procurement for landfill, recycling and 
green organics, improving regional data collection, closed landfill assessments, 
industry engagement and a range of positive engagement activities for all 
communities.

We commissioned a feasibility study on regional recycling and organics 
processing facilities in the region. Recent developments in the recycling industry 
have shone a spotlight on the need for more recycling processing infrastructure 
in the region. At present all municipal recycling is transported out of the region 
to either Geelong or Melbourne. In the case of organics processing there is 
capacity in the eastern end of the region but no capacity currently available in the 
west. With councils now more inclined to offer a green waste service to residents, 
the lack of organics processing in parts of the region will make the transition to 
kerbside organics collection a more expensive option for western councils. 

Collaborative procurement has also been recognised as an important step 
towards improving transparency in processing costs, increasing competition in 
the region and creating efficiencies for landfill, recycling and organics collections 
and processing. This project has started with eight councils participating in the 
region to procure a range of these services in the 2019-20 year. 

Following the release of the regional plan, it was recognised that there would be 
a need for improved data collection and analysis. The first stage of achieving this 
was completed with the preparation of a waste audit plan to include all councils 
in the region. The initial benchmark audits will be undertaken in the 2019-20 year. 

Completing the risk assessments for all the closed landfills listed in the regional 
plan was a goal for the 2018-19 year. This was completed with assessments for 
all closed landfills finalised before the end of June and reports being prepared for 
all councils on the risk assessment for each site. 

I would like to congratulate our staff on a busy and successful year. The efforts 
of Keith Jackson, Elanor Mahon, Lauren Malins, Stuart Horner and Lou Salt have 
ensured that we have continued to not only deliver the actions in the regional 
implementation plan but also work towards dealing with the current recycling 

issues. successfully transitioned to implementing our plan and enhanced our 
local government, community and industry engagement activities. I would also 
like to acknowledge Wes Death, Sophie Pritchard and Christian Malins who have 
now departed the organisation but also made good contributions throughout the 
year. 

I also acknowledge the efforts of the Grampians Central West ResourceSmart 
Schools team of Paul Lehmann, Lou Salt, Fiona Morris, Bronwyn Bant and Jess 
Powell in doing an excellent job working with schools to achieve significant 
savings in the energy, waste and water costs. 

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere thanks and appreciation 
to our Chair Sebastian Klein and board members for their continued support 
for the work our staff does across our region. I would also like to thank our local 
government councillors and Officers along with the staff of the Grampians Central 
West Waste and Resource Recovery Group for their on-going support and 
assistance.

La Vergne Lehmann  
Executive Officer, Grampians Central West WRRG 
2 September 2019

2. Executive Officers Report
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Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Group (Grampians 
Central West WRRG) is a Statutory Authority established under Section 49C of the 
Environment Protection Act 1970. The organisation commenced operating on the 
1 August 2014.

The responsible Minister during the 2018-19 reporting period was;

• the Hon Lily D’Ambrosio MP, Minister for Energy, Environment and Climate 
Change

Legislative Objectives and Functions
Section 49G of the EP Act 1970: Objectives of Waste and Resource Recovery 
Groups

1 The objectives of a Waste and Resource Recovery Group are—

a to undertake waste and resource recovery infrastructure planning to 
meet the future needs of its waste and resource recovery region while 
minimising the environmental and public health impacts of waste and 
resource recovery infrastructure; and

b to facilitate efficient procurement of waste and resource recovery 
infrastructure and services for its waste and resource recovery region 
through the collective procurement of waste management facilities and 
waste and resource recovery services in the region; and

c to integrate regional and local knowledge into State-wide waste and 
resource recovery market development strategies; and

d to educate businesses and communities within its waste and resource 
recovery region to reduce waste going to landfill by using waste and 
resource recovery infrastructure and services efficiently; and

e to ensure Regional Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation 
Plans and programs are informed by local government, business and 
community and inform State-wide waste and resource recovery planning 
and programs.

2 In seeking to achieve its objectives, a Waste and Resource Recovery Group 
must collaborate with councils, Sustainability Victoria, the Authority, industry, 
business and the community.

Section 49H of the EP Act 1970: Functions of Waste and Resource Recovery 
Groups

The functions of a Waste and Resource Recovery Group are—

a to plan for the future needs of waste and resource recovery infrastructure 
within its waste and resource recovery region consistently with the State-Wide 
Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure Plan; and

b to facilitate the provision of waste and resource recovery infrastructure and 
services by councils within its waste and resource recovery region; and

c to facilitate the development of contracts for the joint procurement of waste 
management facilities and waste and resource recovery services within its 
waste and resource recovery region; and

d to manage contracts in the performance of its objectives and functions; and

e to work with Sustainability Victoria, councils, businesses and communities 
to ensure State-wide waste and resource recovery education programs are 
adapted to the needs of its waste and resource recovery region and to facili-
tate the delivery of those education programs; and

f to advise, with Sustainability Victoria, councils and businesses within its 
waste and resource recovery region on best practices for waste and resource 
recovery systems, facilities and services; and

g to support its waste and resource recovery region’s Local Government Waste 
Forum to enable the Waste Forum to perform its functions; and

h to undertake waste and resource recovery projects as funded by government, 
councils and other organisations.

3. Introduction
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Our Vision
An integrated, innovative and efficient waste and resource recovery system that 
creates jobs, protects the environment, provides social benefit and is delivered in 
partnership with the community, industry and all levels of government.

Our Mission
To reduce waste and maximise recycling and resource recovery through 
information sharing, project development and collaborating with local government 
and industry.

Strategic Directions of Grampians Central West 
WRRG
Grampians Central West WRRG is the link between state, local governments and 
industry and is responsible for facilitating a coordinated approach to the planning 
and delivery of infrastructure and services in the areas of municipal solid waste 
(MSW), commercial and industrial waste (C&I) and construction and demolition 
waste (C&D).

a Increase reuse and resource recovery rates across the region;

b Facilitate innovation and research to improve waste management and re-
source recycling recovery infrastructure and services;

c Build capacity and promote waste and resource recovery best practice for 
local government, industry and community through education, networks and 
partnerships;

d Achieve best practice infrastructure siting and operation of waste and re-
source recovery facilities by integrating statutory and strategic planning;

e Minimise the damage to the environment caused by waste disposal;

f Gather reliable data to inform current and future waste and resource recovery 
planning.

Our Stakeholders
Our stakeholders represent the broad community of interest in sustainable uses 
of resources and environmental protection. Effective communication strategies 
are vital to the future role of the Group as it strives to satisfy all interests from its 
limited resource base. There are high expectations from key stakeholders. There 
is a continuing emphasis on constructive partnerships to have Grampians Central 
West WRRG as an effective voice for the future of solid waste management in the 
region.

Our Focus
a Implement the GCW Regional Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation 

Plan

b Improve knowledge and understanding of regional issues related to waste 
and resource recovery

c Continue to build effective partnerships with all stakeholders

d Continue the development of an effective organisation that is well respected 
by stakeholders and has a strong governance framework.

Values and Behaviours
Our Values and Behaviours are: 

a Integrity – We will act with honesty, fairness and consistency

b Respect – We will value, learn from and respect the views of one another

c Openness – We will work together and share knowledge in a spirit of open-
ness

d Make a difference – We will achieve quality outcomes

e Leadership – We will be leaders through our engagement and innovation

Alignment with Victorian Government policy
Sustainability Victoria (SV) is responsible for planning for Victoria’s waste and 
resource recovery system at a statewide level. Central to Victoria’s integrated 
approach is the 30-year roadmap – the Statewide Waste and Resource Recovery 
Infrastructure Plan (SWRRIP). We worked closely with SV to develop our Regional 
Implementation Plan, which outlines how the long term directions and goals of the 
SWRRIP will be achieved in our region. Initiatives including procurement support, 
the Victorian Waste Education Strategy and the Victorian Organics Resource 
Recovery Strategy are also considered in our business and strategic planning.

The concept of a circular economy underpins our RWRRIP and related business 
and strategic planning. Our planning seeks to ensure that Victoria’s waste and 
resource recovery system, particularly its infrastructure, not only manages 
increasing amount of materials, but maximises circular flows whilst minimising 
impacts on the community and the environment. We will work closely with our 
colleagues at DELWP as they develop the Circular Economy Policy and Action 
Plan. 

We are also committed to a resilient and effective recycling industry and will 
continue to work in partnership with councils, industry and the community to help 
implement the Recycling Industry Strategic Plan (RISP) actions to realise the RISP 
goals to:

1 Stabilise the recycling sector

2 Increase the quality of recycled materials

3 Improve the productivity of the recycling sector, and

4 Develop markets for recycled materials.
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The Grampians Central West WRRG encompasses twelve (12) local 
government areas. From Bacchus Marsh to the South Australian border, 
the Grampians Central West WRRG works with the following Councils:

• Ararat Rural City Council

• City of Ballarat

• Central Goldfields Shire Council

• Golden Plains Shire Council

• Hepburn Shire Council

• Hindmarsh Shire Council

• Horsham Rural City Council

• Moorabool Shire Council

• Northern Grampians Shire Council

• Pyrenees Shire Council

• West Wimmera Shire Council

• Yarriambiack Shire Council

4. Grampians Central West WRRG
Councils & Region Map
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Current Staff

La Vergne Lehmann
Executive Officer

Keith Jackson 
Manager – Operations

Lauren Malins
Manager – Infrastructure and Procurement
Parental Leave from November 2018

Elanor Mahon
Governance & Finance Officer

Stuart Horner
Industry Project Officer

Paul Lehmann
ResourceSmart Coordinator

Lou Salt
ResourceSmart Facilitator & Engagement Officer

Fiona Morris
ResourceSmart Facilitator
from February 2019

Former Staff

Wes Death
Communications & Engagement Coordinator
until December 2018

Sophie Pritchard
ResourceSmart Facilitator
July 2018 - January 2019

Bronwyn Bant
ResourceSmart Facilitator
until January 2019

Jess Powell
ResourceSmart Facilitator
until June 2019

Christian Malins
ResourceSmart Facilitator & Engagement Officer
March – June 2019

 
Grampians Central West WRRG Staff
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The Grampians Central West WRRG is currently served by a total of 7.8 staff 
across two offices in Horsham and Ballarat. The Executive Officer is La Vergne 
Lehmann, who has primary accountability for administration, governance and 
strategic direction as well as being the Accountable Officer as required by the 
Financial Management Act 1994.

The Group employs a further six full time staff:

Executive Officer – La Vergne Lehmann

Manager Operations – Keith Jackson

Manager Infrastructure and Procurement – Lauren Malins

Governance & Finance Officer – Elanor Mahon

Project Officer Industry – Stuart Horner

ResourceSmart Schools Project Coordinator – Paul Lehmann

Part-time and casual staff include:

ResourceSmart Facilitator – Jess Powell – 0.2 FTE

ResourceSmart Facilitator – Lou Salt – 0.6 FTE

ResourceSmart Facilitator – Christian Malins – 0.8 FTE

ResourceSmart Facilitator – Fiona Morris – 0.4 FTE

 
Organisational Structure

Board of Directors

Executive O�cerAudit & Risk
Committee

Governance & Finance
O�cer

Communications &
Engagement Coordinator

Manager Procurement &
Infrastructure

Waste Education
O�cer

ResourceSmart Project
Coordinator

ResourceSmart
Facilitators

Project O�cer Industry

Manager Operations

RWRRIP Implementation
Committee
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The Directors of the Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery 
Group in 2018-19 were:

Sebastian Klein - Board Chair
01/05/2017 to 30/06/2019

Kevin Erwin
01/08/2014 to 30/06/2019

Belinda Coates
01/05/2017 to 30/06/2019

Corinne Heintze
01/05/2017 to 30/06/2019

Jeff Rigby
01/08/2014 to 31/07/2018

Noel Perry
01/08/2014 to 31/07/2018 

Robert Miller
01/08/2014 to 30/06/2019

Patrick Goodall
01/08/2014 to 30/06/2019 

Bridget Wetherall
01/08/2018 to 30/06/2019

Robyn Evans
01/08/2018 to 30/06/2019

Board members are required to operate in the best interests of the Grampians 
Central West WRRG as a whole, rather than in a representative capacity for any 
stakeholders or customer groups.

Meeting Attendance – Board Meetings
During 2018-19 reporting period, the Grampians Central West WRRG Board met 
as follows:

Meeting 
Number Date of Meeting Location

1 Friday 24th August 2018 Ballarat 

2 Friday 30th November 2018 Ballarat

3 Friday 22nd February 2019 Horsham

4 Friday 22nd March 2019 Ballarat 

5 Friday 10th May 2019 Ballarat

Name Role Total 
Attended

Sebastian Klein Chair Chair, Forum nominated 
Representative 4

Kevin Erwin Forum nominated 
Representative 4

Belinda Coates Forum nominated 
Representative 5

Corinne Heintze Forum nominated 
Representative 5 

Robert Miller Skill based Director 5

Patrick Goodall Skill based Director 4

Robyn Evans Skill based Director 5

Bridget Wetherall Skill based Director 5

 
Grampians Central West WRRG Board
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Cr Sebastian Klein
Local Government Nominee Director & Board Chair
Sebastian has been a Councillor at Hepburn Shire since 2008.  An interest in 
sustainability led him to pursue opportunities in reducing carbon emissions 
leading to his involvement in community groups such as Hepburn Renewable 
Energy Association (parent body of the community-owned Hepburn Wind 
project) and the Building Communities Leadership Journey. He has pursued 
these interests into a degree in Ecological Agriculture Course, focusing on the 
intersection of land management, biomass, waste, energy and carbon. Further 
self-funded study tours in Austria, India and New Zealand, have yielded insights 
into different interpretations of waste to energy and approaches to resource 
recovery. He has a focus on resource recovery, energy efficiency and renewable 
energy in Local Government.

Cr. Kevin Erwin
Local Government Nominee Director
Kevin Erwin lives at Stawell, and has been involved with Waste Boards since 
2005. He has been a councillor since 2003, acted in the Mayoral role four times, 
as well as serving on the Audit Committee. He is a former CFA board member 
and a CFA volunteer and current chair of a number of Development, Transport 
and Festival committees in the Wimmera region.

Cr Belinda Coates
Local Government Nominee Director
A Councillor of the City of Ballarat, Belinda was first elected in 2012 and held the 
position of Deputy Mayor during 2016. She is a former chair and board member 
of the Highlands Regional Waste Group and is a current board member for 
Central Victorian Greenhouse Alliance. 

Cr Corinne Heintze
Local Government Nominee Director
Corinne Heintze lives in Minyip and is a councillor from the Yarriambiack Shire 
an elected in 2016. Corinne has maintained a significant involvement in her local 
community over many years and owns and runs a grain and sheep farm and 
Agricultural Chemical Supply outlet at Minyip. 

Mr Jeff Rigby
Skills based Director
Jeff Rigby is a water industry and public sector governance professional with 
30 years of experience working with three water utilities located and servicing 
communities in the western and north-central regions of Victoria.  Jeff is currently 
the Managing Director of Coliban Water and, prior to this role, was the Managing 
Director at GWMWater from 2007 until 2011.  Jeff is a past member and former 
chairman of two regional councils for adult, community and further education 
(2009 to 2014) and a former board member and chairman of a regional not-for-
profit disability enterprise (2004 to 2010).

Mr Noel Perry
Skills based Director
A skills-based Director appointed to the Board in 2014, Noel is a Retired Assistant 
Commissioner of Victoria Police. His last portfolio with the Police was command of 
the Ethical Standards (Internal Investigation) Department. He was a Councillor for 
the City of Ballarat from 2008 to 2013 and Chair of Highlands Waste Management 
Group for same period.

Mr Robert Miller
Skills based Director
A senior manager/engineer with extensive experience (35 plus years) in the 
waste management, environment, mining and construction industries, Rob 
is a skills-based Director for the Grampians Central West WRRG. Rob has 
permitted, designed and operated a portfolio of landfills and is now focussed on 
AWT development, including waste resource recovery and energy. With strong 
strategic, financial, project management, people, marketing and negotiation 
skills, he also has extensive International experience in Asia, Europe and the 
USA.

Mr. Patrick Goodall
Skills based Director & Chair Audit & Risk Committee
Paddy has an extensive background in operations and risk management. He 
currently serves as the Aviation Network Manager for the national Air Traffic 
Control service provider, Airservices. Paddy was appointed as a skills-based 
Director to the Board in 2014.

Ms Bridget Wetherall
Skills based Director 
Appointed to the Board in 2018, Bridget is an experienced environmental 
professional, with qualifications in engineering and environmental law. Currently 
employed as Executive Manager Environmental Services at Central Highlands 
Water, Bridget has skills and experience in areas including contaminated land 
management, water resources management, strategic planning, community 
behaviour change and environmental policy reform.

Ms Robyn Evans
Skills based Director 
Robyn has over a decade of experience in local government, largely in 
sustainability, strategic planning and infrastructure.  She also has a background 
in delivering change programs and community initiatives.

Mr Andrew Pittard
External Member – Audit & Risk Committee
Andrew holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from Federation University with 
major studies in Accounting and Law.  He is a Certified Practising Accountant 
and lives in Melbourne. He has held senior financial roles with listed multinational 
corporations such as Fonterra, Gardner Denver and Honeywell.  In addition, 
Andrew has undertaken public sector roles for the Australian Bureau of Statistics, 
Victorian Electoral Commission and Australian Electoral Commission.  Amongst 
the 30 years business experience, he acquired, managed and disposed of Refine 
Engineering, a precision engineering business servicing the Petrochemical 
and Construction industries.  He currently consults in the area of Research and 
Development Tax Incentives and Export Market Development Grants.

 
Meet The Board



Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group Financial Report 2018 – 201912

Directors’ Roles
The role and duties of the Board include: strategy, governance, and risk 
management. Grampians Central West WRRG Directors undertake a number of 
responsibilities including:

setting the broad strategy for the Group to meet its objectives and performance 
targets;

approving, where appropriate, Group policies and other recommendations 
received from the Group, its sub-committees and staff;

monitoring all Group policies; reviewing and recommending changes to the 
Group’s internal strategies and policies manual;

establishing and monitoring governance arrangements for the entity;

integrating risk management into the entity’s strategic planning process;

monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness and currency of internal financial and 
operational risk management, compliance and reporting systems;

ensuring the preparation of and approving strategic plans, annual reports, key 
procedures and policies

considering and approving the Group’s Annual Budget;

appointment and release of the Executive Officer; and

assisting to develop and maintain positive relations among the Board, 
committees, staff, stakeholders and the community to enhance the Group’s 
mission.

Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee’s role is to:

• monitor the management of the Grampians Central West WRRG finances, 
cash flows and solvency; 

• ensure compliance with all relevant statutory regulation and other legal 
obligations including, but not limited to, the Financial Management Act 
1994, Public Administration Act 2004 and any other financial, regulatory or 
administrative guidance issued to and applicable to the Grampians Central 
West WRRG, notably from the Department of Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning (DELWP);

• consider the effectiveness of management information and other systems of 
internal control;

• review the annual financial statements with management and the external 
auditors prior to their approval by the board;

• review and consider reports issued by the external auditor or any other 
internal or specialist auditor on weaknesses in internal controls and plans 
by management to rectify any matters noted;

• oversight development and management of the annual budget;

• review any significant transactions which are not a normal part of 
Grampians Central West WRRG operations; and

• ensure a risk management framework and processes are effectively 
operating to support Grampians Central West WRRG governance and 
management;

The Grampians Central West WRRG Audit and Risk Committee is comprised of 
the following Board members; Mr Robert Miller, Cr Kevin Erwin, Ms Robyn Evans 
and an independent member Mr Andrew Pittard. The Audit Committee is chaired 
by Mr Patrick Goodall (Skills based Director). Mr Sebastian Klein (GCWWRRG 
Chair), Ms La Vergne Lehmann, Executive Officer and Ms Elanor Mahon, 
Governance & Finance Officer are all ex-officio.

The Audit and Risk Committee meetings are held on the same day as the full 
Board. The Committee met on a total of 5 occasions during 2018-19.

Exemptions were granted by the Minister for Finance for the requirements to have 
two independent members on the Committee and an Internal Audit function.
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Section 49B of the Environment Protection Act 1970 establishes Local 
Government Waste Forums in each Waste and Resource Recovery Region.

Each council in a waste and resource recovery region may nominate a 
representative to a Local Government Waste Forum for that region. The functions 
of a Local Government Waste Forum are:

1 to nominate the 4 persons who are to be the representatives of the councils 
for the purposes of section 49K(2)(a); and

2 if there is a vacancy in the office of a director nominated under section 49K(2)
(a), to nominate a person to fill that vacancy; and

3 to advise the Board of directors of the Waste and Resource Recovery Group 
on matters and issues affecting the role of councils in waste management 
and resource recovery; and

4 to act as a conduit for consultation between the Waste and Resource Recov-
ery Group and the councils in the waste and resource recovery region of that 
Group.

Members of the Local Government Waste Forum from July 2018 – June 2019 
were:

 
Local Government Waste Forum

Representative Organisation Total 
Attendances

Cr Faye Hull Ararat Rural City Council 
(from November 2018) 3

Mr Joel Hastings Ararat Rural City Council 1

Ms Deidre Andrews Ararat Rural City Council 2

Ms Veronica Schilling Ararat Rural City Council 1

Mr Hugh Delahunty Central Goldfields Shire Council 
(Administrator) 3

Mr Glenn Deaker Central Goldfields Shire Council 1

Ms Rebecca Stockfeld Central Goldfields Shire Council 1

Mr Ron Potter Central Goldfields Shire Council 1

Cr Belinda Coates City of Ballarat (until December 2018) 1

Cr Grant Tillett City of Ballarat (from December 2018) 2

Mr Steve van Orsouw City of Ballarat 3

Cr Joanne Gilbert Golden Plains Shire Council 1

Ms Elisha Atchison Golden Plains Shire Council 2

Cr Sebastian Klein Hepburn Shire Council (until March 
2019) GCW Chair, Board 2

Cr Kate Redwood Hepburn Shire Council 
(from March 2019) 2

Mr. David Watson Hepburn Shire Council 1

Mr. Steve Millard Hepburn Shire Council 1

Mr. Stuart Ritchie Hepburn Shire Council 1

Representative Organisation Total 
Attendances

Mr Shane Power Hindmarsh Shire Council 1

Mr Wayne Schulze Hindmarsh Shire Council 1

Ms Janette Fritsch Hindmarsh Shire Council 2

Cr Pam Clarke Horsham Rural City Council 1

Mr John Martin Horsham Rural City Council 4

Mr Jarod Hammond Horsham Rural City Council 1

Cr Tom Sullivan Moorabool Shire Council (Forum Chair) 4

Mr Phil Jeffrey Moorabool Shire Council 1

Mr Daniel Smith Moorabool Shire Council 1

Cr Kevin Erwin Northern Grampians Shire 3

Mr Chris Adams Northern Grampians Shire 2

Mr Warren Groves Northern Grampians Shire 1

Ms Kate Sage Northern Grampians Shire 4

Cr Damien Ferrari Pyrenees Shire Council 2

Mr Philip Diprose Pyrenees Shire Council 1

Cr Tom Houlihan West Wimmera Shire Council 4

Cr Corinne Heintze Yarriambiack Shire Council 4
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The Technical Advisory Reference Group (TARG) has been set up to provide 
technical support for the Forum. The principal role of the TARG is to advise the 
Grampians Central West Local Government Waste Forum on relevant issues.

The TARG meetings provide the council officers with the opportunity to share 
information, raise waste related issues, make recommendations and provide 
expert advice to the Forum on technical matters relevant to the delivery of 
Grampians Central West waste and recycling services. There were five meetings 
during the 2018-19 year, including two workshop meetings (one in conjunction 
with Sustainability Victoria, and one in conjunction with VMIA).

Members of the Technical Advisory Group are:

Representative Organisation Attended

Ms Deidre Andrews  Ararat Rural City Council 5

Mr Joel Hastings Ararat Rural City Council 2

Mr Ron Potter Central Goldfields Shire Council 5

Ms Louise Turner City of Ballarat 1

Mr Tony Talevski Golden Plains Shire Council 2

Ms Eisha Atkinson (Chair) Golden Plains Shire Council 4

Ms Lisa Worthington Hepburn Shire Council 1

Mr Wayne Schultz Hindmarsh Shire Council 2

Mr Garry Salt Hindmarsh Shire Council 1

Mr Martin Duke Horsham Rural City Council 1

Mr Jared Hammond Horsham Rural City Council 3

Mr Andy Vann Horsham Rural City Council 3

Ms Sharon Vis Moorabool Shire Council 3

Mr Caroline Rantall Moorabool Shire Council 1

Ms Kate Sage Northern Grampians Shire Council 2

Mr Philip Diprose Pyrenees Shire Council 4

Mr Terry Ough West Wimmera Shire Council 5

Mr Bernie Naylor Yarriambiack Shire Council 2

Mr Joel Turner Yarriambiack Shire Council 2

 
Technical Advisory Reference Group
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Grampians Central West WRRG has developed six objectives that reflect the 
overall strategic direction of the organisation, as outlined in the Grampians 
Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation Plan and following 
on from the previous business plan. The approach in developing the deliverables 
for each of these objectives is to demonstrate that Grampians Central West 
WRRG is endeavouring to work more efficiently and effectively in alignment 
with the Statewide Waste and Resource Recovery Infrastructure Plan and other 
regional implementation plans. The priority actions listed here are those from the 
implementation plan with the short-term activities numbered according to priority 
actions.

The 2018–19 achievements against objectives have been developed based on 
the Minister’s Statement of Expectations, the Implementation Plan, the additional 
objective and associated performance targets in Ministerial Directions or 
Statement of Expectations and the various initiatives that support their delivery.

Listed are the business plan objectives, strategies and deliverables to be 
undertaken by Grampians Central West WRRG and the progress towards 
achieving each strategy. The objectives and strategies align with the objectives 
of the Implementation Plan:

Objective 1: Increase Resource Recovery and Market Development

Priority action 1 Assess and, where viable, support the development of solutions 
and systems to increase the recovery of priority materials

Priority action 2 Facilitate the development of regional partnerships to produce 
efficiencies in resource recovery, materials transport and disposal.

Objective 2: Improve Infrastructure and Operations

Priority action 3 Work across all levels of government, industry and investors 
to explore innovative and technological advancements that could inform future 
infrastructure development and investment. 

Priority action 4 Work with councils and industry to upgrade (and rationalise) 
infrastructure, improve operations and engage communities. 

Priority action 5 Facilitate work between councils and/or industry and the 
Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) to progress any rehabilitation 
assessments and requirements for closed landfills.

Objective 3: Advance Data Collection and Planning

Priority action 6 Work with councils and relevant state planning authorities to site 
new infrastructure appropriately and protect existing facilities and hubs from 
encroachment

Priority action 7 Contribute to the development and application of a reliable state 
and regional integrated data system to inform waste and resource recovery 
decisions. 

Priority action 8 Share information across government on regional infrastructure 
and market development needs and priorities.

Objective 4: Foster Relationships to Optimise Diversion from Landfill

Priority action 9 Continue to work with relevant agencies, councils, industry, 
schools and the community on waste and resource recovery education and 
engagement 

Objective 5: RWRRIP Implementation

Ensure Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation 
Plan is implemented, promoted, monitored and evaluated in partnership with local 
and state government, business and community and inform state-wide waste and 
resource recovery planning and programs.

Objective 6: Good Governance

Ensure transparency and accountability for all corporate practices to demonstrate 
we are a reputable organisation that can provide accurate factual and timely 
advice and data to our stakeholders.

The outcomes for each objective, as articulated in the previous business plan is 
measured as follows:

5. Objectives and Performance
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Priority Action 1
Assess and, where viable, support the development of solutions and systems to 
increase the recovery of priority materials

Priority Action 2
Facilitate the development of regional partnerships to produce efficiencies in 
resource recovery, materials transport and disposal.

Indicator Performance Measures 2017/18* 2018/19*

Priority Action 1 
Assess and, where viable, support the 
development of solutions and systems to 
increase the recovery of priority materials

• Set up & Manage Waste to energy working group  

• Complete feasibility report on recycling and organics processing 

• Develop & review industry engagement plan  

• Develop region-wide waste audit plan 

• Implement e-waste procurement, infrastructure and education program 

Priority action 2 
Facilitate the development of regional 
partnerships to produce efficiencies in resource 
recovery, materials transport and disposal.

• Undertake collaborative procurement for kerbside collections and processing  

• Implementation of council waste management plan template  

 Performance target achieved or exceeded 
 Performance target not achieved (exceeds 5% variance) 
 Performance target not achieved (within 5% variance)

 
Objective 1 – Increase Resource Recovery & Market Development
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SHORT-TERM ACTIVITIES (5 years) WHEN PROGRESS TOWARDS OBJECTIVE 

1.1 Investigate viable and innovative opportunities to 
increase recovery of food and garden organics as 
feedstock for regional w2e options

2018–2020

The w2e consultative group has continued to work with local government & 
industry to attract or expand reprocessing operations in the region by providing 
opportunities to present at regular meetings.  
Feasibility study on sorting and processing infrastructure for the region 
Identify organics processing infrastructure opportunities across the region 
completed. Initial business case for a regional MRF also completed for Ballarat.

1.2 Facilitate discussions with the waste and resource 
recovery industry to investigate opportunities for resource 
recovery improvements

2018–2020
Industry engagement plan reviewed 
Engagement with specific industry groups to identify opportunities for waste 
reduction and diversion 

1.3 Conduct waste audit to inform pre-sort viability 
assessment 2018-2019

Plan for consistent audits across the region to provide a consistent baseline for 
data completed. 
Delivered collaborative audit project in partnership with local councils

1.5 Investigate and, where viable, inform and facilitate 
opportunities to increase recovery of priority materials, 
including organics, timber, tyres, aggregates, e-waste, 
glass, and textiles

2018–2021

Assessment of a glass crusher for a number of councils to divert glass as a 
contaminant in recycling. 
Undertook e-waste RF for councils in preparation for the implementation of the 
e-waste ban on 1 July 2019. 

1.6 Identify appropriate co-location sites, that have the 
appropriate buffers and social license to operate to 
receive, process or treat organic waste

2018-2020

Feasibility study on sorting and processing infrastructure for the region 
Identify organics processing infrastructure opportunities across the region 
completed. 
6 councils now undertaking collaborative procurement for green waste collection 
& processing. 

1.7 Work with councils and state authorities to develop 
mechanisms to appropriately manage waste and recover 
resources during and after emergency events

2018–2019
Risk and contingency plan workshop with local government held.  
Risk register updated 
Contingency planning review undertaken.

1.8 Consider, inform and facilitate any future material 
diversion requirements from landfill in line with 
government commitments

2018+
Councils supported with e-waste infrastructure grants. 
Development of e-waste engagement/education pan for the region in conjunction 
with local government. 

2.2 Facilitate collaborative procurements to maximise 
waste and resource recovery outcomes, where viable and 
providing cost effective solutions to optimise resource 
recovery 

Ongoing
Collaborative Procurement process underway with 8 councils for landfill collections 
and processing, recycling collections and processing and green waste collection 
processing.  

2.4 Assist councils to procure waste and resource 
recovery services and infrastructure that will achieve the 
goals and objectives of the State Infrastructure Plan and 
the Grampians Central West Implementation Plan 

Ongoing
7 councils now utilising the council waste plan template that aligns with the WRRIP 
and SWRRIP  
Feasibility into recycling and organics processing undertaken for region. 

2.5 For collaborative procurements, encourage councils 
to notify the Australian Competition and Consumer 
Commission (ACCC) or initiate authorisation

Ongoing Coordination of ACCC application for collaborative procurement. 
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Objective 2 – Improve Infrastructure and Operations

Priority action 3
Work across all levels of government, industry and investors to explore innovative 
and technological advancements that could inform future infrastructure 
development and investment.

Priority action 4
Work with councils and industry to upgrade (and rationalise) infrastructure, 
improve operations and engage communities.

Priority action 5
Facilitate work between councils and/or industry and the Environmental Protection 
Authority (EPA) to progress any rehabilitation assessments and requirements for 
closed landfills.

Indicator Performance Measures 2017/18* 2018/19*

Priority action 3 
Work across all levels of government, industry and 
investors to explore innovative and technological 
advancements that could inform future 
infrastructure development and investment.

• Implementation of council waste management plan template  

• Complete feasibility report on recycling and organics processing 

• Develop region-wide waste audit plan 

• Develop region-wide waste audit plan  

• Develop a business case for Yarriambiack mobile transfer station 

• Implement e-waste infrastructure program with councils 

Priority action 4 
Work with councils and industry to upgrade (and 
rationalise) infrastructure, improve operations and 
engage communities.

• Implementation of council waste management plan template  

• Complete feasibility report on recycling and organics processing 

• Host EPA forum on the management and storage of combustible recycling 
and waste materials 

• Implement e-waste procurement, infrastructure and education program. 

Priority action 5 
Facilitate work between councils and/or industry 
and the Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) 
to progress any rehabilitation assessments and 
requirements for closed landfills.

• Completed the risk assessment for all closed landfills across the region. 

 Performance target achieved or exceeded 
 Performance target not achieved (exceeds 5% variance) 
 Performance target not achieved (within 5% variance)
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SHORT-TERM ACTIVITIES (5 years) WHEN PROGRESS TOWARDS OBJECTIVE

3.1 Assist councils to establish policy and strategies for 
resource recovery, waste management, infrastructure, 
the environment and sustainability which are aligned with 
the Grampians Central West Implementation Plan and the 
State Infrastructure Plan

Ongoing

Supported the use of the council waste plan template that aligns with the WRRIP 
and SWRRIP

Identified council projects that are in line with WRRIP objectives including waste 
audit program, regional MRF, local organics processing, mobile transfer station and 
glass crusher projects for development.

3.3 Investigate and evaluate service delivery models and 
any associated infrastructure in rural and remote regional 
areas to facilitate cost-effective resource recovery 

2018–2020 Development of pilot project for mobile transfer station with the Yarriambiack Shire 
Council. 

3.4 Monitor and provide advice on opportunities and 
advances in the waste and resource recovery sector and 
consider their application and viability for the region

Ongoing
Initiated presentations to TARG and Waste Forum and undertook site visits of 
innovative approaches and technologies that could be applied to the GCW region. 

Completed feasibility for recycling and organics processing in the region. 

Supported the City of Ballarat waste to energy project and other smaller scale 
waste to energy projects I the region. Undertook feasibility for regional recycling 
and organics processing in the region as generator of other economic development 
opportunities. Engaged the region in the w2e procurement for western Melbourne.

Initiated the development of a social licence for w2e across the region with a public 
forum and support for the annual w2e forum in Ballarat

Initiated the collaborative procurement program for collection and processing of 
landfill, recycling and organics with 8 councils in the region.

3.5 Foster innovation, economic development and 
employment initiatives as they relate to the waste and 
resource recovery industry

Ongoing

3.6 Assist councils and industry in responding to key 
waste and resource recovery issues and topics to foster 
enhanced relationships and continuous infrastructure and 
operational improvement

Ongoing

4.1 Work with councils to establish best practice storage 
and handling of materials such as hardstand areas to 
reduce contamination of organics at RRCs, shelters, etc., 
where appropriate

2018 – 2020

Worked with councils to establish best practice e-waste infrastructure for transfer 
stations. 

Hosted a council and industry forum with the EPA to ensure better understanding 
of the management and storage of combustible recycling and waste materials 
guidelines.

4,2 Investigate and consider options for asset 
rationalisation, consolidation and upgrade of landfill and 
RRC infrastructure, primarily in rural and remote areas.

Development of pilot project for mobile transfer station with the Yarriambiack Shire 
Council. 

Worked with councils to establish best practice e-waste infrastructure for transfer 
stations. 

4.3 Facilitate training opportunities to assist councils to 
continuously improve landfill and RRC operations to meet 
best practice and optimise recovery

Ongoing

Implementation of actions from the landfill operators working group and the 
Local Government TARG working groups to best practice through training and 
infrastructure facilitate improvement in infrastructure and service delivery at RRC 
operations.

Facilitation of tours of active landfills, transfer stations and reprocessing facilities

5.1 Facilitate work between operators/duty holders and 
the EPA to develop risk-based assessments for closed 
landfills and develop management strategies for future 
rehabilitation implementation

2018 – 2021 Completed the risk assessment for all closed landfills across the region.
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Objective 3 – Advance Data Collection & Planning

Priority action 6
Work with councils and relevant state planning authorities to site new 
infrastructure appropriately and protect existing facilities and hubs from 
encroachment

Priority action 7
Contribute to the development and application of a reliable state and regional 
integrated data system to inform waste and resource recovery decisions. 

Priority action 8
Share information across government on regional infrastructure and market 
development needs and priorities.

We will know we are successful when:

• Waste and resource recovery facilities are recognised in planning schemes 
and have appropriate buffers in place.

• There is accurate and timely data consistently recorded and accessible

• Information is readily shared and easily accessible across key stakeholders 
to facilitate improved waste and resource recovery outcomes across the 
region

• Industry and local government are collaborating to develop and implement 
projects

Indicator Performance Measures 2017/18* 2018/19*

Priority action 6 
Work with councils and relevant state planning 
authorities to site new infrastructure appropriately and 
protect existing facilities and hubs from encroachment

• Stage 2 of the buffer protection project developed and implemented 

• Complete feasibility report on recycling and organics processing 

Priority action 7 
Contribute to the development and application of a 
reliable state and regional integrated data system to 
inform waste and resource recovery decisions. 

• Develop region-wide waste audit plan 

• Implement GCW data working group to achieve region consistent 
data collection  

Priority action 8 
Share information across government on regional 
infrastructure and market development needs and 
priorities.

• Complete feasibility report on recycling and organics processing 

• Manage Local Government Forums, TARGs and working groups to 
promote information sharing  

 Performance target achieved or exceeded 
 Performance target not achieved (exceeds 5% variance) 
 Performance target not achieved (within 5% variance)
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SHORT-TERM ACTIVITIES (5 years) WHEN PROGRESS TOWARDS OBJECTIVE

6.1 Work with councils to discuss potential planning mechanisms to 
protect buffers for existing and proposed facilities and hubs where 
required

2018–2019 Stage 2 of the buffer protection project developed and implemented in 
partnership with MWWRG 

6.2 Work with industry and councils to identify possible sites 
for new infrastructure including mechanisms to consider this 
plan in relation to relevant planning scheme amendments and 
planning permit applications for new waste and resource recovery 
infrastructure

2018–2019

Completed feasibility study on sorting and processing infrastructure for the 
region

Work with local government and industry on W2E infrastructure following the 
framework GCWWRRG developed.

Identified organics processing infrastructure opportunities across the region.

7.1 Work with SV and other WRRGs to develop and support an 
integrated data system that responds to state and regional needs 2018–2020

Continued support for the GCW data working group and participate in the 
statewide data group

Plan for consistent audits across the region developed for implementation in 
2019/20.

7.2 Work with industry and SV to receive more timely, consistent 
and reliable data through building relationships 2018–2020

Implementation of the industry engagement plan

Continued to work with local government to standardise data collection for a 
more consistent approach through the regional data group.

7.3 Analyse and share data and information to assist evidence-
based decision-making and operations 2018–2020 Continued support for the GCW data working group and participate in the 

statewide data group

8.1 Consult with industry and councils to gather information on 
innovation and market development needs and priorities Ongoing

Plan for consistent audits across the region developed for implementation in 
2019/20.

Convene and implement actions from Forum, TARG and council working 
groups

Review and implement Industry engagement plan 

8.2 Inform and participate in the development of state policies and 
co-regulatory programs by communicating regional needs and 
priorities for infrastructure, innovation opportunities and market 
development for materials

Ongoing

Innovations in waste and resource recovery were regularly presented to TARG 
and Local Government and Industry waste forums

Participation in State Government policy development in the circular economy 
and recycling.
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Priority action 9
Continue to work with relevant agencies, councils, industry, schools and the 
community on waste and resource recovery education and engagement

We will know we are successful when:

• Our key stakeholders regularly and consistently engage with us to deliver

• improved waste and resource recovery outcomes

Indicator Performance Measures 2017/18* 2018/19*

Priority action 9

Continue to work with relevant agencies, councils, industry, schools 
and the community on waste and resource recovery education and 
engagement

• Delivery of Litter prevention Project  

• Initial development of Regional Litter & Illegal Dumping 
plan 

• Delivery of ResourceSmart Schools program  

• Review and implementation of Regional Stakeholder 
Engagement Plan  

• Develop & review Industry Engagement Plan  

 Performance target achieved or exceeded 
 Performance target not achieved (exceeds 5% variance) 
 Performance target not achieved (within 5% variance)

 
Objective 4 – Foster Relationships to Optimise Diversion from Landfill
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SHORT-TERM ACTIVITIES (5-years) WHEN PROGRESS TOWARDS OBJECTIVE

9.1 Play a role in assisting SV, the Victorian Litter 
Action Alliance (VLAA) and councils in facilitating 
the development and implementation of best 
practice litter prevention programs

Ongoing
Delivery of litter prevention education through social media, Community Events, Resource 
Smart Schools and key sustainability promotional awareness programs.

Implement the “Litter Superheroes” project

9.2 Implement community education and 
engagement activities in conjunction with councils, 
schools, industry and communities.

Ongoing

Reviewed and implemented the regional engagement plan for waste and resource recovery. 

Development and provision of up-to-date resources for the delivery of effective 
communications and engagement across the region.

Development of a regional recycling contamination campaign following the resolution of the 
SKM closures in early 2019. 

Delivery the ResourceSmart Schools contract milestones including bonus.

9.3 Provide assistance to industry to ensure 
infrastructure, facilities and services are operated 
and managed to protect the community, 
environment and public health

Ongoing
Implementation of the industry engagement plan  

Initiate documentation of case studies of industry best practice in the region.
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RWRRIP Implementation
Ensure Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Implementation 
Plan is implemented, promoted, monitored and evaluated in partnership with local 
and state government, business and community and inform state-wide waste and 
resource recovery planning and programs.

We will know we are successful when:

• Our key stakeholders are engaged and understand the strategic directions 
of the plan

• Priority actions are being implemented according to the plan timeframes

• The progress of the plan is regularly reported and promoted to key 
stakeholders

Indicator Performance Measures 2017/18* 2018/19*

RWRRIP Implementation

Ensure Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery 
Implementation Plan is implemented, promoted, monitored and 
evaluated in partnership with local and state government, business 
and community and inform state-wide waste and resource recovery 
planning and programs.

• Develop Monitoring & Evaluation Plan  

• Initiate RWRRIP review committee  

 Performance target achieved or exceeded 
 Performance target not achieved (exceeds 5% variance) 
 Performance target not achieved (within 5% variance)

SHORT-TERM ACTIVITIES (5-years) WHEN PROGRESS TOWARDS OBJECTIVE

1. Promote the strategic directions of this plan to key 
stakeholders across the region Ongoing

Implementation of education and community engagement programs across the 
region including social media, positive media stories events and direct community 
engagement.

Development of a regional recycling contamination campaign following the 
resolution of the SKM closures in early 2019. 

2. Develop monitoring and evaluation framework for the 
Implementation plan Ongoing Approved monitoring and evaluation framework for GCWWRRG implementation 

plan developed in partnership with SV and other WRRG’s

3. Implement the priority actions in the Regional 
Implementation Plan Ongoing Regional Implementation Priority actions incorporated into staff work plans

4. Demonstrate the plan is being implemented through 
appropriate reporting and promotion to key stakeholders 
(DELWP, SV, Local Government and Industry)

Ongoing
Reports developed and submitted as required

Plan progress promoted to key stakeholders 

 
Objective 5 – RWRRIP Implementation
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Good Governance
Ensure transparency and accountability for all corporate practices to demonstrate 
we are a reputable organisation that can provide accurate factual and timely 
advice and data to our stakeholders.

We will know we are successful when:

• Our compliance requirements are consistently met

• We have a consistent corporate brand in place

• Appropriate data bases and knowledge sharing frameworks are in place

• Our board charter and appropriate audit programs are in place and 
operating well

Indicator Performance Measures 2017/18* 2018/19*

Good Governance

Ensure transparency and accountability for all corporate practices 
to demonstrate we are a reputable organisation that can provide 
accurate factual and timely advice and data to our stakeholders.

• Annual report and business plan completed on time  

• Annual review of policies  

• Board charter review  

• Corporate branding tools reviewed  

 Performance target achieved or exceeded 
 Performance target not achieved (exceeds 5% variance) 
 Performance target not achieved (within 5% variance)

SHORT-TERM ACTIVITIES (5-years) WHEN PROGRESS TOWARDS OBJECTIVE

1. Develop, revise and review all corporate policies and 
procedures so they are fit for purpose and comply with all 
legislative requirements

Ongoing Inventory of statutory requirements developed. 
Required annual and financial reporting undertaken.

2. Build Grampians Central West WRRG corporate brand and 
develop effective knowledge sharing arrangements within the 
organisation.

Ongoing
A suite of corporate branding tools and templates regularly reviewed and updated  
Website reviewed and updated 
Tools and guidance notes developed to manage intellectual property

3. Establish and maintain a strong governance framework Ongoing Board charter regularly reviewed and adopted 
Review the need for an Internal audit function.

 
Objective 6 – Good Governance
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6. Responsible Body Declaration Under SD 4.2(j)

Responsible Body Declaration Under SD4.2(j)

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 I am pleased to present the Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Group’s Annual 
Report for the year ending 30th June 2019.

Sebastian Klein 
Chairperson, Grampians Central West WRRG 
2 September 2019
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The Grampians Central West WRRG has made a commitment to lead by example 
in promoting and maintaining the principles of sustainability within its office 
environment. To that end Grampians Central West WRRG has continued its 
commitment to the Take 2 program in 2018-19. 

The Grampians Central West WRRG employs up to 10 officers that operate from 
leased premises in Ballarat and Horsham. 

Reasonable efforts are made to minimise consumption of water and power. 
Recycling is undertaken at both offices and food organic waste is collected from 
office kitchens and from catered meetings to minimise landfill waste generated at 
each office. Printing in each office is now minimised and where possible paper is 
reused if printing is single sided. 

The Group has continued to retain 3 vehicles, with all vehicles being diesel 
vehicles.  Changes in staffing locations across the region, significantly 
increased engagement activities and a 25% increase in active schools in the 
ResourceSmart Schools program has resulted in an overall increase in fuel 
consumption as a result of increased travel across the region. 

Staff utilise the train service from Ballarat to Melbourne for meetings rather than 
driving wherever possible. 

The Grampians Central West WRRG’s purchasing activities are environmentally 
responsible. 

The Group monitors energy, water and fuel use.

Environmental Aspect Description Unit of Measure 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17

Energy Use per FTE 
emission offset with Green Energy Kilowatt hours 1.35 1.5 1.62

Paper
Use per FTE Reams 2.94 5 3.8

Total Use (100% recycled content) Reams 30 43 30

Transportation

Total fuel consumption Litres 12167 11905 8368

Fuel consumption per FTE Litres 1193 1384 1059

Total Travel associated with departmental operations Kilometres 136700 133032 81471

Total Travel associated with departmental operations per 
FTE Kilometres 13402 15468 10312

Waste*
Generated per FTE Kilograms 55 75 81

Total Recycled Kilograms 321 301 298

Water Consumption per FTE Litres per day 2.3 2.2 2.38

*In 2018, a Smart Cara unit was purchased for the Ballarat office. All food waste 
has since been diverted from the landfill bins to the unit. The unit dehydrates and 
grinds down all food waste into a nutrient rich food which is then put either into 
our worm farm or compost located at the back of the office area.

7. Report of Operations
Office Based Environmental Impacts
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Grampians Central West WRRG employed thirteen people during the 2018-2019 
year. The breakdown of staff for the Group is as follows:

2018 – 2019 2017 – 2018
Total Employees 13 12
Senior Management (salary less than $120,000) 2 2

Male 5 5

Female 8 7

Full Time 8 8

Part Time 5 4

Equivalent Full Time (EFT) 10.2 7.8

Age 20-24 0 1

25-34 3 1

35-44 4 5

45-54 3 3

55-64 3 2

VPS 3 3 2

VPS 4 7 6

VPS 5 1 1

VPS 6 1 1

GSERP 1 1

Employees have been correctly classified in workforce data collections.

Grampians Central West WRRG has introduced policies and practices that are 
consistent with the Victorian Public Sector Commission’s employment standards 
and provide for fair treatment, career opportunities and rather early resolution 
of workplace issues.  The Group has advised its employees on how to avoid 
conflicts of interest, how to respond to offers of gifts and how it deals with 
misconduct.

Executive Officer Disclosure
The following outlines the Executive Officer data for Grampians Central West 
Waste and Resource Recovery Group:

2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16
No. Of Executive Officers Total 1 2* 2* 2*

Gender of Executive Officers Female
1 - Male

1 - Female

1 - Male

1 – Female

1 - Male

1 - Female

No. Of Executive Officers with 
remuneration over $100,000 1 2 2 2

Total no. of Executive Officers 
that were reported via the 
PEERS

1 2 2 2

* For the period 2015 – May 2017 the Executive Officer was on leave due to 
illness. During this time an Acting Executive Officer was appointed. An Executive 
Officer position was advertised and appointed in December 2017.

Grampians Central West WRRG is committed to Employment and Conduct 
principles.

Employment Principles
means the public sector employment principles enshrined in section 8 of the 
Public Administration Act 2004 (PAA) which are that:

• employment decisions are based on merit

• public sector employees are treated fairly and reasonably

• equal employment opportunity is provided

• human rights as set out in the Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities 
are upheld

• public sector employees have a reasonable avenue of redress against 
unfair or unreasonable treatment.

Conduct Principles
means the public sector values in s.7, PAA, which are: Responsiveness, Integrity, 
Impartiality, Accountability, Respect, Leadership and Human rights.

Additionally, Grampians Central West WRRG is committed to the principles of 
equal employment opportunity (EEO) and the establishment and maintenance of 
a non-discriminatory work environment.

Grampians Central West WRRG is committed to applying merit and equity 
principles when appointing staff. The selection processes ensure that applicants 
are assessed and evaluated fairly and equitably on the basis of the key selection 
criteria and other accountabilities without discrimination.

This approach reflects Grampians Central West WRRG’s desire to have a 
work place free from discrimination, where each person has the opportunity to 
progress to the extent of their ability and the needs of the organisation.

Grampians Central West WRRG is committed to the principles of merit and equity 
as covered under the Public Administration Act 2004, including:

Employers must ensure Employees must
Decisions are based on merit Act impartially

Employees are treated fairly and 
reasonably

Display integrity including avoiding real 
or apparent conflict of interests

EEO is provided Show accountability for actions 

Reasonable avenues of redress against 
unfair or unreasonable treatment Provide responsive service

Human rights as set out in the Charter 
of Human Rights and Responsibilities 
are upheld

Demonstrate leadership by actively 
implementing, promoting and 
supporting public sector values

Demonstrate respect for colleagues, 
other public officials and members of 
the Victorian community

Respect and promote the human rights 
set out in the Charter of Human Rights 
and Responsibilities

 
Merit & Equity

 
Workforce Data Statement
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Merit & Equity

The Grampians Central West WRRG is working towards to creating a balanced 
working environment where equal opportunity and diversity are valued. As part of 
the workforce inclusion policy, Grampians Central West WRRG has an ongoing 
target of 50/50 on the employees’ gender profile.

In reporting on the Grampians Central West WRRG workforce diversity target, the 
following table outlines Grampians Central West WRRG’s targets for the 2018-19 
financial year. Grampians Central West WRRG will continue to report on its actual 
progress against these targets in future reports.

Workforce Inclusion Policy Initiative Target

Balanced employee gender profile On-going/fixed-terms/casual basis 
employees

50 per cent male; 50 per cent female 
has been achieved.

All Grampians Central West WRRG programs, services and strategies are 
planned to ensure that they reflect the WRRG and member Council community 
base and any of their particular cultural needs. The Grampians Central West 
WRRG is committed to policies, programs and strategies aimed at delivering 
culturally appropriate services to all members of the community. 

 
Cultural Diversity



Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group Financial Report 2018 – 201930

The Occupational Health and Safety Act 1985 provides the legislative basis for 
two interrelated approaches to the management of occupational health and 
safety (OH&S).

These are:

• a risk management approach to hazard control; and

• consultation between the employer and their staff. 

The Occupational Health and Safety Policy outlines the Group’s approach in 
OH&S risk management. This policy also provides details on the consultative 
mechanisms for managing OH&S in the workplace.  

Grampians Central West WRRG will provide and maintain a working environment 
for all staff and visitors, which is safe and without risk to their health.  This 
commitment is embodied in the Grampians Central West WRRG Occupational 
Health & Safety Policy.  

The following principles in the management of OH&S are utilised by the 
Grampians Central West WRRG: 

Grampians Central West WRRG supports the implementation of a systematic 
approach to risk management in accordance with the SafetyMAP risk 
management system. 

• The assessment and provision of appropriate workplace first aid facilities 
assists the organisation in reducing the severity of injury and illness within 
the workplace and in maintaining a safe and healthy work environment. 

• The provision of a smoke-free working environment is necessary to ensure 
that staff and visitors to Grampians Central West WRRGs workplace are not 
troubled by the adverse effects of active or passive smoking. 

• Good work practices and workstation design will enhance work efficiency 
and minimize the risk of occupational injury. 

• Personal protective equipment is provided to staff when other methods 
of hazard control are not able to provide the necessary protection from a 
workplace risk. 

• Staff will be provided with appropriate eye protection where required to 
afford necessary protection from workplace hazards. 

• Grampians Central West WRRG is committed to establishing precautionary 
procedures that protect staff and clients from infection within the Group’s 
site(s). 

• The provision of occupational rehabilitation following a work related injury 
or illness will facilitate the recovery and early resumption to duty of a staff 
member. 

• Reporting and investigation of work related injuries, illnesses and 'near 
misses' will help prevent similar occurrences in the future. 

• Trauma debriefing services should be provided to staff members who may 
be affected as a result of a traumatic incident which occurs on Grampians 
Central West WRRG premises or as a result of its operations.  No matters 
have arisen during the year and no WorkCover claims have been lodged.

Over the last 12 months Grampians Central West WRRG has undertaken the 
following specific actions in relations to our OH&S obligations:

• Ensured that all vehicles carry appropriate safety gear including first aid 
kits, water, fire blankets and fire extinguishers and that this is checked and 
updated on a regular basis.

• Ensured that all staff are aware of safe driving practices including taking 
regular breaks, travelling with a companion where appropriate and staying 
overnight when there is a long trip. 

• Invested in an additional high-low desks that are designed to assist staff be 
more active in the office environment.

• Ensured that all staff are completely up-to-date with their first aid 
certification.

• Encouraged staff to participate in outdoor activities such as the walking 
circuit around the office and the workplace veggie garden to ensure they 
take regular breaks. 

Performance against OH&S 
Management Measures

2018-19 2017-18

Incidents

No. of incidents Nil Nil

Claims

No. of standard claims Nil Nil

No. of lost time claims Nil Nil

Fatalities

No. of Fatality Claims Nil Nil

Risk management
We are committed to ensuring effective risk management is embedded across 
the organisation’s activities. Our risk management framework is consistent with 
current standards and aims to support the development of a positive risk culture 
through proactively managing, avoiding or mitigating risks before they occur.

Occupational Health and Safety
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The challenges associated with the ongoing recycling issues have continued 
to dominate much of the focus of the region in terms of implementing the State 
Government’s Recycling Industry Strategic Plan (RISP) and developing the 
collaborative procurement opportunities for local government in the region. This 
work has continued in conjunction with the implementation of the Regional Waste 
and Resource Recovery Implementation Plan. 

Staff have been particularly focussed on project planning, data collection and 
analysis, plan preparation, specialist expertise procurement and stakeholder and 
community engagement throughout the 2018-19 year.

The Grampians Central West WRRG Local Government engagement program 
continues to focus on the LG Waste Forum and the LG Technical Adviser 
Reference Group (TARG). The LG Waste Forum has been held four times in 2018-
19. The revamped focus for the LG Forum on educating councillors and local 
government staff on waste reduction and recycling opportunities in the region has 
been well received and generated considerable interest in a number of potential 
opportunities in the region.  

TARG working groups continue to focus on specific areas of interest including 
collaborative procurement and waste data collection and recording. Subregional 
working groups have also been established for the eastern, central and western 
parts of the region to focus on localised issues.  The landfill operators (council 
and private) working group has also continued to meet throughout the year.

Waste to Energy continues to be of interest in the region with a number of 
projects moving towards implementation. GCW continues to take a pro-active 
stance on this through a regular working group meeting to introduce new 
projects, potential operators and opportunities in the region. 

The critical features of the GCWWRG community and stakeholder engagement 
are the development of a strong social media presence, a strong presence 
at events across the region, development of positive media stories and the 
development of the Can Do Communities program.  The main events included 
the Ballarat Begonia Festival, Grampians Grape Escape, Maryborough Energy 
Breakthrough, Mallee Machinery Field Days, Wimmera Machinery Field Days and 
several smaller local events and markets. 24 workshops were also held across 
the region over as part of the our support for International Compost Awareness 
Week. 

Grampians Central West WRRG has continued to deliver the Grampians 
ResourceSmart Schools program across the region for the 2018-19 year with 
more than 80 schools now actively engaged in the program across the region.  

The GCW Regional Implementation Plan provides the key strategic document to 
guide the operation of the organisation.

The business plan is developed to ensure the priority aspects of implementation 
plan are achieved. The Implementation Plan Committee meets quarterly to 
guide, monitor and report on progress on priorities and projects listed in the 
implementation and business plans.

Significant progress has been made on several key implementation activities 
throughout the year.

Recycling Processing Facilities in the region 
GCWWRRG undertook several research projects to understand and identify 
ways to address the lack of regional recycling processing facilities. This included 
the preparation of the Grampians Organics Review 2018, the Woody Garden 
Organics Report 2018, and the Regional Resource Recovery Processing Facilities 
2018. As a result of this last report assistance has been provided to the City of 
Ballarat to develop a business case to establish a Material Recycling Facility in 
Ballarat. 

Collaborative procurement 
The collaborative procurement project has progressed significantly with funding 
provided through the state-wide collaborative procurement fund. 8 councils 
are participating. Technical, legal and probity consultants were appointed 
and have developed the appropriate package of documentation to enable the 
tender process to be undertaken. As the project goes to tender it is anticipated 
significant savings will be achieved by the participating councils.

Contingency Planning 
The recycling crisis created challenges especially for Local Governments 
in the region. Together with the assistance of state government appropriate 
contingency plans were developed and implemented to negotiate contracts, 
provide financial support and implement the Regional Strategic Industry Strategic 
Plan. With the assistance of the Victorian Managed Insurance Authority five key 
regional risks were identified, and plans put in place to enable these risks are 
managed. 

Data 
A collaborative waste audit plan for kerbside and transfer station waste and 
recycling was finalised for all councils in the region. The councils all agreed 
to implement this plan and tender documentation has been developed and 
resources committed to undertake standardised regional waste and recycling 
audits. This is a significant step forward to ensure there is current and accurate 
data to inform projects and monitor progress of the implementation plan.

E-Waste 
GCWWRRG has actively worked with the councils to plan and deliver 
infrastructure, education and contracts to ensure councils were prepared for the 
implementation of the new e-waste ban that came into effect on 1st July 2019. 
Funding was provided to 11 councils to build 20 new e waste collection facilities. 
The group received funding on behalf of the Grampians councils to undertake an 
e waste education program to support the implementation of the ban.

Closed landfills 
The closed landfill assessment program is a key priority of the implementation 
plan. All closed landfills have been inspected, assessed and reports written for 
each of the councils in the region.

8. Programs & Projects
Regional Implementation Plan
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In 2018-19, the principal tool for local government engagement remained 
the Waste Forums, which were held quarterly and involved one elected 
representative of each local government authority and a nominated advisor. The 
other major engagement tool was the Technical Officer Advisory Group (TARG) 
which includes a variety of council staff attending four meetings throughout the 
year. There are also subcommittees for the TARG to deal with specific areas of 
interest such as data, landfill operations and geographic areas for infrastructure 
and procurement. 

Ongoing positive engagement has involved the introduction of an educational 
component to the forum to ensure that there is an ongoing benefit for all 
attendees. Topics over the last 12 months have included the National Waste 
Strategy, landfills for the future and the vision for waste in Ballarat. A Forum 
Business planning session was also held to ensure that Frum had some input into 
the GCWWRRG Business Plan for the coming year. 

The Landfill Operators Group continued in 2018-19 and has become an important 
networking activity for the four landfill operators in the region. The Landfill 
Operators Group includes the two local council landfill operators and two private 
operators. This group has been effective in identifying common issues and 
sharing different operational approaches to landfill management. 

Some of the main outcomes and issues that have been achieved in 2018-19 with 
councils include:

• Implementation of the risk assessment of closed landfills and approved by 
the EPA.

• Implementation of template for Local Government Waste Management 
Plans by councils across the region.

• Regional Engagement/Education Strategy reviewed

• Industry Engagement Plan reviewed

• Ongoing work on statutory planning and buffer protection for waste and 
resource recovery infrastructure

• Development of the collaborative procurement program with councils 
Assistance with e-waste infrastructure applications 

• Development of a regional waste audit plan

• Feasibility of recycling and organics infrastructure across the region 

• Promotion of Litter Super Heroes program 

• Delivery of ResourceSmart Schools program 

• Engagement activities at events across the region 

• Implementation of the regional e-waste program 

• Continuation of the regional Waste to Energy working group 

• Opportunities for councils to participate in Get Grubby program, Compost 
Revolution and the development of a waste app for the region.

• Promotion of Detox your Home events 

The recycling issues that arose in early 2018 have coincided with a number of 
GCW councils needing to go to tender for landfill and recycling collections and 
processing in the next two years. This has provided the opportunity through 
the WRRG shared services and Recycling Industry Strategic Plan funding to 
assist councils to participate in a collaborative procurement program for landfill, 
recycling and green waste collections and processing. 

To date 8 of the 12 GCW councils have opted into the collaborative procurement 
program for a range of services including:

• Landfill kerbside collection 

• Landfill kerbside processing

• Recycling kerbside collection 

• Recycling kerbside processing

• Green waste collection

• Green waste processing 

It should be noted that not all councils require all services as some retain some 
services in-house or contracts are not close to expiration.

The process for developing the collaborative procurement has progressed with 
technical specifications, legal and probity advisors appointed. It is anticipated 
that the procurement tender documents will be release in the second half of 2019. 

Local Government Engagement Program Collaborative Procurement
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Grampians Central West WRRG has continued to deliver the ResourceSmart 
Schools Program across the region in 2018-19. The ResourceSmart team have 
continued working with the 84 active schools with several new schools joining the 
program and a number of schools re-engaging with the program. As a result of 
exceeding contracted targets for the number of active schools, a bonus payment 
was received. 

All schools have continued to progress through modules throughout the year. 
With a high number of new active schools, additional time was spent in setting up 
their systems for ongoing success in 2019-20. Many of these schools will achieve 
star certification int eh coming year. 

A highlight of the year was the first regional Resource Schools Celebration. 
Two events were held to ensure schools across the region had the opportunity 
to participate. Special guests Costa Georgiadis and Dirt Girl entertained and 
inspired school students, teachers and parent throughout the day with many 
creating new sustainability plans for the 2019 school year. 

Outstanding achievers and highlights throughout the year include:

• Urquhart Park Primary School – Stephanie Alexander Kitchen Garden and 
E-waste education 

• St Mary’s Primary School, Warracknabeal – Continue to maintain their 5 Star 
status and inspiring other schools. 

• St James Parish School achieved 4 Star status with activities including 
composting, worm farms, native tree plantation.

• Ararat 800 Primary School have continued with their successful Earthlings 
program to generate new environmental leadership in the school. 

• St Arnaud Primary School have continued their Stephanie Alexander 
Garden program and are implementing new waste and recycling systems 
in their school.

The Grampians Central West region is a very diverse region with a range of 
communities from large regional centres through to small rural communities.  
Different communities want to be able to focus on a variety of different activities; 
whether than be starting a Boomerang Bags sewing group to reduce plastic 
bag use or learning how to preserve their homegrown produce, ‘Can- Do 
Communities’ is all about providing the support to communities to help 
these activities get started. We know a ‘one size fits all’ will not work so we 
developed the ‘Can Do Communities’ program to adapt to the needs of different 
communities. 

We designed the program to help communities harness tried and tested activities 
and develop 21st century versions of activities that past generations undertook to 
ensure that they wasted as little as possible. 

Grampians Central West prepared a ‘prospectus’ of activities that support 
communities to focus on waste and recycling activities that are important to their 
community. These activities provide community groups such as Neighbourhood 
or Community Houses, Community Gardens, Men’s Sheds, CWA, Kinder and 
school parent groups etc. with a range of activities to support their communities.  
A range of activities are outlined in the prospectus and have been offered to 
communities across the region to assist them with avoiding waste creation, 
increasing recycling and decreasing what we send to landfill. 

Since Officially getting started in May 2018, the GCW Can Do Communities has 
worked with communities in every part of the region on a range of projects. These 
have included:

• Boomerang Bags

• Repair Cafes

• Granny Skills workshops

• Composting and worm farming workshops 

• Community composting

• Slow sewing and mending groups

• Community gardens

• Waste free events

• Social media and communicating with your community workshops 

• Op shop workshops 

• Food waste workshops 

• War on waste or No waste groups 

• Community food hubs

• Food is free laneway 

• Share your spare and produce swaps 

• Book club – focusing on sustainability/reduce waste books 

The community has indicated that they have plenty more ideas on what they 
can do in their community to build their capacity and knowledge in the area 
of waste and recycling and more importantly a desire to do so. The number of 
communities engaged to date is 46.

ResourceSmart Schools Program Can Do Communities Program
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Grampians Central West has continued to develop its commitment to working 
with industry and business across the region. This includes waste and recycling 
generators, collectors and processers.

Industry surveys, analysis of waste data and the recycling crisis have all 
contributed to developing priority waste streams to target. These include 
commercial and industrial, organics, plastics, glass and hard to recycle wastes.

Strong links have been established with the building industry via the Master 
Builders Association. Presentations to the industry on construction and demolition 
waste and opportunities to recycle waste in from this sector were strongly 
supported. This has resulted in the development of a recycling skip project. 
This will initially target plaster and wood waste streams. The aim is to create a 
streamlined, easily identified recycling skip service that is timely and responsive 
to the needs of the industry.

The Group has created links with a start-up company The Cup Exchange (TCX).  
Founded on the principles of the circular economy, TCX is attempting to provide 
a convenient and sustainable alternative to single-use cups. TCX eradicates 
single use cups by providing access to reusable cups as a service. TCX’s cup 
exchange system lets members ‘loan out’ a cup containing their coffee. When 
finished, the cup is returned to a convenient participating exchange point. 
.A demonstration project using TXC’s “Cup Starter” program is planned for a 
network of cafes in the Ballarat CBD.

Links have also been established with Food redistribution Not-for-profit 
organisation YÜME to potentially expanded their operations to the GCW region, 
and adopt their model to other waste streams such as C&I or C&D.

We continue to support and facilitate industry access to funds to establish and 
expand waste processing facilities. The establishment of a plastic shredding 
plant has enabled plastic flock to be sold to a local plastic manufacturer. Training 
for local C&I processors has helped identify opportunities for expansion however 
the downturn in the markets for recycled materials is hampering the development 
of the recycling industry.

The Group is involved with machine learning trials at local landfills to help 
develop efficient ways of collecting and assessing waste streams and has 
continued to work with companies providing food dehydrators to manage food 
waste across the region through increased ease of recycling and reduced 
transport costs.

Regular networking with industry continues through participation in commerce, 
business and industry groups in the region.

Grampians Central West WRRG is strongly committed to establishing waste 
to energy as an important component of meeting the waste management and 
energy needs of the region. 

The region has a long history of supporting waste to energy. Berrybank Farm at 
Windermere has a waste to energy system consisting of an anaerobic digester 
that turns piggery effluent (waste) into biogas to generate electricity energy, 
potting mix and an odourless organic fertiliser. The system has been in operation 
since 1989. The Beaufort Hospital Bioenergy Project has been operating since 
2014. Utilising wood waste from a nearby sawmill a biomass boiler system has 
replaced LPG for heating and hot water saving the organisation significant 
money.

We established a waste to energy working group that is convening the current 
local expertise and experience in w2e, building capacity in w2e across Western 
Victoria through knowledge sharing, Identifying the obstacles to implementing 
w2e projects in the region and identifying opportunities for w2e projects in 
Western Victoria. The working group has meet 5 times throughout the year.

The Group has developed a waste to energy framework to support the 
establishment of economically viable and environmental sound waste to energy 
projects that reduce waste to landfill and provide alternative energy sources 
for local communities and businesses. The framework identifies the three key 
parameters to be addressed for any waste to energy project to succeed. These 
three parameters are feedstock, site, offtake. Once these are identified and 
understood, the appropriate technology, if viable can be identified. The Executive 
Officer presented the framework to the Riverina Eastern Regional Organisation of 
Councils Waste Forum during the year.

We have continued to support the development of waste to energy in the region 
by sponsoring research into the calorific values of various waste streams, 
participating in the Australian Waste to Energy Forum 2019, assisting with the 
development of the Alternative Waste Treatment project for Western Melbourne 
and facilitating government support and involvement in waste to energy projects 
in the region.

Several projects have received government funding including a straw fired boiler 
for the Skipton hospital, a wood fired boiler at the Stawell abattoir, a thermal 
combustion powered generator at Bacchus Marsh, a biodigester to process food 
waste at Creswick and a biodigester to process animal waste at Ballan.

Industry Engagement Program Waste to Energy
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The Metropolitan WRRG has coordinated the Local Buffer Support Project across 
the state. The aim of the project is to ensure key waste and resource recovery 
infrastructure is adequately recognised and protected in the planning system 
both at the state and local level. This will be done through the development and 
implementation of a suite of measures to define, protect and maintain buffer areas 
around waste and resource recovery facilities. 

Grampians Central West WRRG received funding to implement this project in the 
Grampians Region.  Extensive work has been completed for the region including

• The preparation of a database and assessment of the Waste & Resource 
Recovery facilitates in the Grampians Central West Region (approximately 
58 sites); 

• A review of the statutory and strategic planning requirements and 
opportunities for Waste and Resource recovery infrastructure in the regional 
implementation plan for the Grampians Central West WRRG;

• Delivery of training for local council staff on waste and resource recovery 
facilities and planning schemes;

• Identification of existing waste and resource recovery facilities (and/or 
hubs) that need buffers and the land use planning tools needed to protect 
the buffers. 

• A final report on the project is available at the attached link   https://
recyclingrevolution.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/Planning-Project-
DRAFT-Report-2018-01-22.pdf

• Development of local planning policies to be incorporated into planning 
schemes at Golden Plains Shire Council (Smythesdale Landfill), Northern 
Grampians Shire Council (Statewide Landfill), and Horsham Rural City 
Council (Dooen Landfill and Kenny Road Transfer Station).

• Recognition of Maddingley Brown Coal landfill as a hub of State 
significance in the Moorabool Planning Scheme through planning 
amendment C81

• Preparation of the Maddingley Planning Study which provides the basis to 
determine the most appropriate planning tool(s) to provide buffer protection 
for the MBC WRR hub of state significance. 

This has been a significant step forward in ensuring the waste and resource 
recovery facilities are identified, mapped, recognised and protected in the local 
government planning schemes.

Buffer Support Program
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Given the size of the Group the period under review was one of consolidation 
to meet the overall objectives of the Group. The Major Budgetary Operational 
headings are as follows:

Actual Budget
$ $

Income 1,270,102 1,129,532

Expenditure

Employment Expenses 865,125 901,798

Project Expenses 399,047 227,482

Other Operating Expenses 224,427 184,556

Depreciation 34,929 30,000

Total Expenditure 1,523,528 1,343,836

Net profit/(loss) (253,426) (214,304)

 

Actual versus Budget Differences

Actual Budget Variance
$ $ $

Income

Variance represented by:

Additional project income  
(Ewaste, Litter Plan)

150,000 - 150,000

Expenditure

Variance represented by:

Employment expenditure

865,125 901,798 36,673

The variances in the 2018-19 budget can be explained as follows:

Income variations include:

• Project income not included at budget time as projects had not been 
announced (Ewaste, Regional Litter Plan)

• Reimbursement of expenditure for joint projects with other WRRGs and 
Councils

• The total income for 2018-19 decreased significantly compared to prior 
years, reducing our capacity to maintain staff numbers from previous years.

Expenditure variations include:

• Underspending on employment costs due to changes in staffing for project 
and core activities

• Additional expenditure on projects for presenters and speakers to offset 
staffing shortages

9. Operational & Budgetary Objectives
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2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 2014-15*

Core Business revenue  967,983 944,373 921,340 898,868 736,877

Government contributions   251,438 405,000 365,242 448,673 65,936

Other revenue   50,681 24,500 23,890 19,496 159,878

TOTAL REVENUE   1,270,102 1,373,873 1,310,472 1,367,037 962,691

Administration    333,554 642,803

Corporate Expenditure   1,124,481 1,052,257 894,172 394,500 370,337

Project Expenditure   399,047 169,999 355,315 400,718

TOTAL EXPENDITURE   1,523,528 1,222,256 1,246,828 1,128,772 1,013,140

Net Operating Result  (253,426) 151,617 63,286 238,265 (50,499)

Net Cash Flow from Operations (248,728) 208,070 23,511 35,665 (1,399)

Current Assets   758,236 1,009,289 839,823 820,754 617,502

Non-Current Assets   110,083 117,157 134,152 120,847 96,201

TOTAL ASSETS   868,319 1,126,446 973,975 941,601 713,703

Current Liabilities   138,314 154,829 139,104 169,050 190,327

Non-Current Liabilities   16,360 4,546 19,327 20,383 9,473

TOTAL LIABILITIES   154,674 159,375 158,431 189,433 199,800

Net Assets   713,645 967,071 815,454 752,168 513,903
*2014-15 financial year covered 11-months only. The Group was created on 1 August 2014.

Significant changes in financial position

Throughout the 2018-19 financial year there were no significant changes to the 
financial position of the Grampians Central West WRRG.

Significant changes or factors affecting performance

Throughout the 2018-19 financial year there were no significant changes or 
factors affecting performance of the Grampians Central West WRRG.

We are working closely with DELWP to explore strategies to ensure that 
Grampians Central West WRRG is sufficiently resourced to deliver against priority 
areas and meet our legislative requirements.

Some of these strategies include:

• accessing alternative means of project promotion including greater use of 
social media and event booking sites

• streamlining of project management to ensure overlapping and competing 
priorities are minimised

• better use of consultants, guest speakers, external agencies to assist in the 
delivery of some project outcomes.

10. Financial and Other Information
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Accounting & Audit Solutions Bendigo of 61 Powells Avenue, Bendigo hereby declare that the 
account and records of the Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group are properly 
maintained and the financial statements for the year ended 30 June, 2018 were prepared in 
accordance with the Australian accounting standards and the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) 
to provide comfort to the Board and the Auditors. 
 
 
Dated:  2nd September, 2019 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Steven Jackel 
Partner 
Accounting & Audit Solutions Bendigo 
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maintained and the financial statements for the year ended 30 June, 2018 were prepared in 
accordance with the Australian accounting standards and the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA) 
to provide comfort to the Board and the Auditors. 
 
 
Dated:  2nd September, 2019 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Steven Jackel 
Partner 
Accounting & Audit Solutions Bendigo 

11. Financial Statements
AASB Letter
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Audited Financial Reports
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Dated:  2nd September, 2019 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
Steven Jackel 
Partner 
Accounting & Audit Solutions Bendigo 
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The attached financial statements for the Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Group have been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of the 
Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards 
including interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow 
statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2019 and financial position of the Group at 30 June 2019.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 2 September 2019.

Accountable Officer & CFO – Ms L. Lehmann

Signed at: Ballarat 
On: 2 September 2019

 

Chairperson – Cr. Sebastian Klein

12. Statutory Certification
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13. VAGO Audit Opinion Letter 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of the Grampians Central Waste and Resource Recovery Group 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of the Grampians Central Waste and Resource Recovery 
Group (the authority) which comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2019 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies 
• statutory certification. 

In my opinion, the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the authority as at 30 June 2019 and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 7 of the 
Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the authority in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.   

Other 
Information 

The Board is responsible for the "other information" included in the authority's Annual 
Report for the year ended 30 June 2019. The other information in the Annual Report does 
not include the financial report and my auditor’s reports thereon.  My opinion on the 
financial report does not cover the other information included in the Annual 
Report.  Accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other 
information when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have 
performed, I conclude that there is a materially misstatement of this other information, I am 
required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.  

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the authority’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the authority’s internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
authority to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 

 
MELBOURNE 
9 September 2019 

Paul Martin 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group

Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Continuing operations $ $

Income from transactions
Landfill levy distribution 2.2 967,983          944,373
Grant revenue 2.3 251,438          405,000
Interest revenue 8,197               8,056
Other revenue  42,484             16,444

Total income from transactions 1,270,102       1,373,873       

Expenses from transactions
Employee benefits expense 3.1.1 (865,125)         (732,444)         
Project expenses 3.2 (399,047)         (259,235)         
Other operating expenses 3.3 (224,427)         (200,105)         
Depreciation 4.1 (34,929)           (30,472)           

Total expenses from transactions (1,523,528)      (1,222,256)      
  

Net result from transactions (253,426)         151,617          

Net result (253,426)         151,617          

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Note

13. Financial Statements
Comprehensive Operating Statement
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Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2019

2019 2018
 $ $
Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2 483,623          760,206          
Trade and other receivables 5.1 262,985          236,093          
Other assets 5.2 11,628             12,990             

Total Current Assets 758,236          1,009,289       

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment and motor vehicles 4.1 110,083          117,157          

Total Non-Current Assets 110,083          117,157          

Total Assets 868,319          1,126,446       

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5.3 71,219             69,878             
Employee benefits provision 3.1.2 67,095             84,951             

Total Current Liabilities 138,314          154,829          

Non-Current Liabilities
Employee benefits provision 3.1.2 16,360             4,546               

Total Non-Current Liabilities 16,360             4,546               

Total Liabilities 154,674          159,375          

Net Assets 713,645          967,071          

Equity
Contributed Capital 564,352          564,352          
Accumulated surplus 149,293          402,719          

Net Worth 713,645          967,071          

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Note

Balance Sheet
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Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2019

2019 2018
 $ $
Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6.2 483,623          760,206          
Trade and other receivables 5.1 262,985          236,093          
Other assets 5.2 11,628             12,990             

Total Current Assets 758,236          1,009,289       

Non-Current Assets
Plant and equipment and motor vehicles 4.1 110,083          117,157          

Total Non-Current Assets 110,083          117,157          

Total Assets 868,319          1,126,446       

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 5.3 71,219             69,878             
Employee benefits provision 3.1.2 67,095             84,951             

Total Current Liabilities 138,314          154,829          

Non-Current Liabilities
Employee benefits provision 3.1.2 16,360             4,546               

Total Non-Current Liabilities 16,360             4,546               

Total Liabilities 154,674          159,375          

Net Assets 713,645          967,071          

Equity
Contributed Capital 564,352          564,352          
Accumulated surplus 149,293          402,719          

Net Worth 713,645          967,071          

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Note

Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group

Cash Flow Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
 $ $
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts
Receipts from landfill levy distribution and grants 1,235,013       1,389,782       
Interest received 8,197               8,056               

Total Receipts 1,243,210       1,397,838       

Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,495,078)      (1,192,908)      
Goods and Services Tax (paid to)/refunded from ATO 3,140               3,140               

Total Payments (1,491,938)      (1,189,768)      

Net cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 6.3 (248,728)         208,070          

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (27,855)           (13,477)           
Net cash from / (used in) investing activities (27,855)           (13,477)           

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (276,583)         194,593          

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 760,206          565,613          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6.2 483,623          760,206          

(a)  GST recovered from the Australian Taxation Office is presented on a net basis

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Note

Cash Flow Statement
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Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Contributed 
Capital

Accumulated 
Surplus

Total

 $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2017 564,352          251,102          815,454          
Net result for the year -                   151,617          151,617          

Balance at 1 July 2018 564,352          402,719          967,071          
Net result for the year -                   (253,426)         (253,426)         
Balance at 30 June 2019 564,352          149,293          713,645          

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Note

Statement of Changes in Equity
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Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

Contributed 
Capital

Accumulated 
Surplus

Total

 $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2017 564,352          251,102          815,454          
Net result for the year -                   151,617          151,617          

Balance at 1 July 2018 564,352          402,719          967,071          
Net result for the year -                   (253,426)         (253,426)         
Balance at 30 June 2019 564,352          149,293          713,645          

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements

Note

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

1 About this report

The Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group (GCWWRRG) is a statutory agency of the State of Victoria, established 
on 1 August 2014 by section 49C(1) of the Environment Protection Act 1970 .

Its principal address is:                               Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group
                                                                              7 Learmonth Road
                                                                              Wendouree, Victoria 3355

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities is included in the “Report of operations” which does
not form part of these financial statements. 

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are in Australian dollars and the historical cost convention is used unless a different
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note associated with the item measured on a different basis. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in preparing these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities, equity,
income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Consistent with the requirements of AASB 1004, contributions by owners (that is, contributed capital and its
repayment) are treated as equity transactions and, therefore, do not form part of the income and expenses of the GCWWRRG.
Additions to net assets which have been designated as contributions by owners are recognised as contributed capital. 
Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners have also been designated as 
contributions by owners. 

Balances subject to judgements and estimates such as: depreciation, provision for employee benefits, accruals, impairments
are required to be made about financial information being presented. The significant judgements made in the preparation of these
financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements are disclosed. Estimates and
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods that
are affected by the revision. 
These financial statements cover the GCWWRRG as an individual reporting entity.

Compliance information 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 
(FMA) and applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which include Interpretations, issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB). 

Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable to not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

Accounting policies selected and applied in these financial statements ensure that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or 
other events is reported. 

Income Tax 

No provision for income tax has been raised as GCWWRRG is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax
 Assessment Act 1997. 

14. Notes to the Financial Statements
1. About This Report
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2 Funding Delivery Of Our Services

GCWWRRG's purpose is to work with 12 regional councils in Western Victoria, the Victorian Government environment 
portfolio and the regional waste and resouce recovery groups , industry, business and the community to plan, facilitate
and deliver an integrated and sustainable waste and resource recovery system.

Structure
2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services
2.2 Landfill levy revenue
2.3 Grant revenue

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services 2019 2018
Note $ $

Source

Landfill levy revenue 2.2             967,983             944,373 
Grant revenue 2.3             251,438             405,000 
Interest on bank deposits and investments                  8,197                  8,056 
Other revenue                42,484               16,444 

         1,270,102          1,373,873 

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to GCWWRRG and specific criteria relating to the type of revenue as noted below,
has been satisfied.

GCWWRRG's revenue is provided from three different funding streams, predominately being landfill levy, program/grant
funding from the Sustainability Fund and income received from bank interest. 

2.2 Landfill levy revenue 2019 2018
$ $

Specific purpose grants             967,983             944,373 
Total grants             967,983             944,373 

Landfill levy revenue is received via a Ministerial Determination in accordance with clause 70E of the Environment
Protection Act 1970  and distributed by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (hereafter DELWP).
The Ministerial Determination provides for a yearly allocation distributed that is reflected as receivables for the financial
year by GCWWRRG. 

Grants can be received as general purpose grants, which refers to grants which are not subject to conditions
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be received as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a particular
purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

2.3 Grant revenue 2019 2018
$ $

Specific purpose grants             251,438             405,000 
Total grants             251,438             405,000 

Grant revenue is received from a variety of sources, not directly from the Sustainability Fund.  Grants are received from
Sustainability Victoria, DELWP, and may also come from a variety of other smaller non-government agencies where
applicable.  Grant revenue is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement when GCWWRRG obtains control of
the grant, it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount of the
grant can be measured reliably. 

When grant revenue is received whereby GCWWRRG incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly back to the
contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in the balance sheet as a
liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

2. Funding Delivery Of Our Services
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

3 Expenses incurred in delivery of services

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by GCWWRRG in delivering services and outputs.

Structure
3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services
3.2 Project expenses
3.3 Other operating expenses
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

2.1 Summary of income that funds the delivery of our services 2019 2018
Note $ $

Source

Landfill levy revenue 2.2             967,983             944,373 
Grant revenue 2.3             251,438             405,000 
Interest on bank deposits and investments                  8,197                  8,056 
Other revenue                42,484               16,444 

         1,270,102          1,373,873 

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to GCWWRRG and specific criteria relating to the type of revenue as noted below,
has been satisfied.

GCWWRRG's revenue is provided from three different funding streams, predominately being landfill levy, program/grant
funding from the Sustainability Fund and income received from bank interest. 

2.2 Landfill levy revenue 2019 2018
$ $

Specific purpose grants             967,983             944,373 
Total grants             967,983             944,373 

Landfill levy revenue is received via a Ministerial Determination in accordance with clause 70E of the Environment
Protection Act 1970  and distributed by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (hereafter DELWP).
The Ministerial Determination provides for a yearly allocation distributed that is reflected as receivables for the financial
year by GCWWRRG. 

Grants can be received as general purpose grants, which refers to grants which are not subject to conditions
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be received as specific purpose grants, which are paid for a particular
purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.

2.3 Grant revenue 2019 2018
$ $

Specific purpose grants             251,438             405,000 
Total grants             251,438             405,000 

Grant revenue is received from a variety of sources, not directly from the Sustainability Fund.  Grants are received from
Sustainability Victoria, DELWP, and may also come from a variety of other smaller non-government agencies where
applicable.  Grant revenue is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement when GCWWRRG obtains control of
the grant, it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the amount of the
grant can be measured reliably. 

When grant revenue is received whereby GCWWRRG incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly back to the
contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in the balance sheet as a
liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

3 Expenses incurred in delivery of services

This section provides an account of the expenses incurred by GCWWRRG in delivering services and outputs.

Structure
3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services
3.2 Project expenses
3.3 Other operating expenses

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services 2019 2018
Note $ $

Employee benefit expenses 3.1.1             865,125             732,444 
Project expenses 3.2             399,047             259,235 
Other operating expenses 3.3             224,427             200,105 

1,488,599 1,191,784

3.1.1 Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement 2019 2018
 $ $

Defined contribution superannuation expense               71,578               56,657 
Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service leave             793,547             675,787 

Total employee expenses 865,125 732,444

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave
entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums.

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to superannuation is employer
contributions for members of defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting period.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an
employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are
recognised when the Department is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet 2019 2018
$ $

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months               18,386 39,680
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months               16,967               16,967 

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months                        -                          -   
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months               26,594 21,319

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months                  2,104                  4,544 
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months                  3,044                  2,441 

              67,095               84,951 

Employee benefits               14,680 4,079
On-costs                  1,680                     467 
Total non-current provisions for employee benefits               16,360                  4,546 

              83,455               89,497 

Reconciliation of movement in on-cost provision 2019
$

Opening balance 7,452
Additional provisions recognised 2,848
Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate (3,472)               
Closing balance 6,828
Current 5,148
Non-current 1,680

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave:

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non monetary benefits annual leave, are all recognised in the
provision for employee benefits as 'current liabilities', because GCWWRRG does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlements of these liabilities. 

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable that the
average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-
vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is taken.

Dependent on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave 
are measured at: undiscounted value  if GCWWRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or present value  
if GCWWRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Current provisions:
Annual leave

Long service leave

Provisions for on-costs

Total provisions for employee benefits

Total current provisions for employee benefits
Non-current provisions:

 
3. Expenses Incurred In Delivery Of Services



Grampians Central West Waste & Resource Recovery Group Financial Report 2018 – 201950

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

3.1 Expenses incurred in delivery of services 2019 2018
Note $ $

Employee benefit expenses 3.1.1             865,125             732,444 
Project expenses 3.2             399,047             259,235 
Other operating expenses 3.3             224,427             200,105 

1,488,599 1,191,784

3.1.1 Employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement 2019 2018
 $ $

Defined contribution superannuation expense               71,578               56,657 
Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service leave             793,547             675,787 

Total employee expenses 865,125 732,444

Employee expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave
entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums.

The amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement in relation to superannuation is employer
contributions for members of defined contribution superannuation plans that are paid or payable during the reporting period.

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an
employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are
recognised when the Department is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.

3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet 2019 2018
$ $

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months               18,386 39,680
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months               16,967               16,967 

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months                        -                          -   
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months               26,594 21,319

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months                  2,104                  4,544 
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months                  3,044                  2,441 

              67,095               84,951 

Employee benefits               14,680 4,079
On-costs                  1,680                     467 
Total non-current provisions for employee benefits               16,360                  4,546 

              83,455               89,497 

Reconciliation of movement in on-cost provision 2019
$

Opening balance 7,452
Additional provisions recognised 2,848
Unwind of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate (3,472)               
Closing balance 6,828
Current 5,148
Non-current 1,680

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave:

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non monetary benefits annual leave, are all recognised in the
provision for employee benefits as 'current liabilities', because GCWWRRG does not have an unconditional right to 
defer settlements of these liabilities. 

No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable that the
average sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-
vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is taken.

Dependent on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave 
are measured at: undiscounted value  if GCWWRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or present value  
if GCWWRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Current provisions:
Annual leave

Long service leave

Provisions for on-costs

Total provisions for employee benefits

Total current provisions for employee benefits
Non-current provisions:

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet continued

Long service leave   

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability; even where GCWWRRG 
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

 - undiscounted value  if GCWWRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and 
 - present value if GCWWRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an
‘other economic flow’ in the net result. 

3.1.3 Superannuation

Employees of GCWWRRG are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and GCWWRRG contributes to defined
contribution plans.

GCWWRRG makes majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to a number of 
superannuation schemes administered by various super fund management organisations including the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund i.e. Vision Super (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and 
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an
expense in Comprehensive Operating Statement when they are made or due. 

The amount charged to the comprehensive income statement in respect of superannuation represents 
contributions made or due by GCWWRRG to the relevant superannuation plans in respect to the services of GCWWRRG's 
staff (both past and present).  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules 
of each plan and any relevant compulsory superannuation requirements that GCWWRRG is required to comply with.

Accumulation 

The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super, receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive 
basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 
June 2019, this was 9.5% required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation). 

Defined Benefit 
GCWWRRG do not have any staff who are members of the Defined Benefit category.

Contributions by GCWWRRG (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019 are detailed below:

Rate 2019 2018
% $ $

9.5 21,357 20,485
Vic Super 9.5 12,282                        -   
ESS Super 9.5 11,068 10,694

9.5 8,454                        -   
9.5 8,251 7,476
9.5 4,038                        -   
9.5                        -   7,850
9.5                        -   3,584
9.5 6,128 6,568

71,578 56,657

There were no outstanding contributions with any super funds at year end (2018 $0) 

3.2 Project expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Project operation expenses 399,047 259,235
Total 399,047 259,235

Project expenses are recognised in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. Grants can take the form of
money, assets, goods, services or forgiveness of liabilities.

3.3 Other operating expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Supplies and services
Purchase of services 174,343 121,749
Maintenance 21,777 35,016

Operating lease rental expenses
Lease payments 28,307 43,340

Total 224,427 200,105

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. It also
includes bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use
of the leased asset.

First Wrap Plus Super

Scheme Type of scheme

Bendigo Smart Start Super Defined contribution 
Other Defined contribution 
Total

UniSuper

Paid Contributions for
the Year

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Australian Super Defined contribution 

PSSAP Fund Defined contribution 

Vision Super Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 
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3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet continued

Long service leave   

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability; even where GCWWRRG 
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

 - undiscounted value  if GCWWRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and 
 - present value if GCWWRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an
‘other economic flow’ in the net result. 

3.1.3 Superannuation

Employees of GCWWRRG are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and GCWWRRG contributes to defined
contribution plans.

GCWWRRG makes majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to a number of 
superannuation schemes administered by various super fund management organisations including the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund i.e. Vision Super (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and 
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an
expense in Comprehensive Operating Statement when they are made or due. 

The amount charged to the comprehensive income statement in respect of superannuation represents 
contributions made or due by GCWWRRG to the relevant superannuation plans in respect to the services of GCWWRRG's 
staff (both past and present).  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules 
of each plan and any relevant compulsory superannuation requirements that GCWWRRG is required to comply with.

Accumulation 

The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super, receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive 
basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 
June 2019, this was 9.5% required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation). 

Defined Benefit 
GCWWRRG do not have any staff who are members of the Defined Benefit category.

Contributions by GCWWRRG (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019 are detailed below:

Rate 2019 2018
% $ $

9.5 21,357 20,485
Vic Super 9.5 12,282                        -   
ESS Super 9.5 11,068 10,694

9.5 8,454                        -   
9.5 8,251 7,476
9.5 4,038                        -   
9.5                        -   7,850
9.5                        -   3,584
9.5 6,128 6,568

71,578 56,657

There were no outstanding contributions with any super funds at year end (2018 $0) 

3.2 Project expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Project operation expenses 399,047 259,235
Total 399,047 259,235

Project expenses are recognised in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. Grants can take the form of
money, assets, goods, services or forgiveness of liabilities.

3.3 Other operating expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Supplies and services
Purchase of services 174,343 121,749
Maintenance 21,777 35,016

Operating lease rental expenses
Lease payments 28,307 43,340

Total 224,427 200,105

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. It also
includes bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use
of the leased asset.

First Wrap Plus Super

Scheme Type of scheme

Bendigo Smart Start Super Defined contribution 
Other Defined contribution 
Total

UniSuper

Paid Contributions for
the Year

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Australian Super Defined contribution 

PSSAP Fund Defined contribution 

Vision Super Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 
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3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet continued

Long service leave   

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability; even where GCWWRRG 
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

 - undiscounted value  if GCWWRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and 
 - present value if GCWWRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an
‘other economic flow’ in the net result. 

3.1.3 Superannuation

Employees of GCWWRRG are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and GCWWRRG contributes to defined
contribution plans.

GCWWRRG makes majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to a number of 
superannuation schemes administered by various super fund management organisations including the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund i.e. Vision Super (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and 
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an
expense in Comprehensive Operating Statement when they are made or due. 

The amount charged to the comprehensive income statement in respect of superannuation represents 
contributions made or due by GCWWRRG to the relevant superannuation plans in respect to the services of GCWWRRG's 
staff (both past and present).  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules 
of each plan and any relevant compulsory superannuation requirements that GCWWRRG is required to comply with.

Accumulation 

The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super, receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive 
basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 
June 2019, this was 9.5% required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation). 

Defined Benefit 
GCWWRRG do not have any staff who are members of the Defined Benefit category.

Contributions by GCWWRRG (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019 are detailed below:

Rate 2019 2018
% $ $

9.5 21,357 20,485
Vic Super 9.5 12,282                        -   
ESS Super 9.5 11,068 10,694

9.5 8,454                        -   
9.5 8,251 7,476
9.5 4,038                        -   
9.5                        -   7,850
9.5                        -   3,584
9.5 6,128 6,568

71,578 56,657

There were no outstanding contributions with any super funds at year end (2018 $0) 

3.2 Project expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Project operation expenses 399,047 259,235
Total 399,047 259,235

Project expenses are recognised in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. Grants can take the form of
money, assets, goods, services or forgiveness of liabilities.

3.3 Other operating expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Supplies and services
Purchase of services 174,343 121,749
Maintenance 21,777 35,016

Operating lease rental expenses
Lease payments 28,307 43,340

Total 224,427 200,105

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. It also
includes bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use
of the leased asset.

First Wrap Plus Super

Scheme Type of scheme

Bendigo Smart Start Super Defined contribution 
Other Defined contribution 
Total

UniSuper

Paid Contributions for
the Year

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Australian Super Defined contribution 

PSSAP Fund Defined contribution 

Vision Super Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

4.1 Property, plant and equipment 2019 2018
Note $ $

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at Cost 62,775 58,555
Accumulated depreciation (44,885)             (29,186)             
Total plant and equipment 17,890              29,369              

Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles at Cost 147,390            123,755            
Accumulated depreciation (55,197)             (35,967)             
Total motor vehicles 92,193              87,788              

Total property, plant and equipment 110,083            117,157            

Property, plant & equipment recognition:

All non financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently reported at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date 
of acquisition. 

The initial cost for non financial physical assets under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Subsequent measurement:

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, GCWWRRG determines the policies and procedures for both recurring 
property, plant and equipment fair value measurements, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.

Plant and equipment and Motor vehicles are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Motor Vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method.  Management set relevant depreciation rates  reflect
the utilisation of the vehicles.

Fair value for plant and equipment that are specialised in use (such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern)
is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.

There were no changes to valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019.

Refer to Note 4.1(b) for additional information on fair value determination of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation  2019 2018
Note $ $

Depreciation
Motor Vehicles 19,230              18,563              
Plant and Equipment 15,699              11,909              
Total Depreciation 34,929              30,472              

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the assets useful life to GCWWRRG, commencing 
when the asset is ready for use.

Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or
their estimated useful life.

Depreciation Rates   

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:
Fixed asset class

Motor Vehicles
Plant and Equipment

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is 
reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. There have been no changes in depreciation
rates from the prior year and during the current year.

Impairment of non financial physical assets  

In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount either in profit and loss or as a revaluation decrease.
If the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset, a formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by GCWWRRG to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows, which will 
be received from the asset's employment and subsequent disposal. 

The expected net cash flows have not been discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment  

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the 
end of the current financial year:

Motor Plant &
Vehicles Equipment Total

$ $ $
Year ended 30 June 2019
Balance at the beginning of year 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Additions 23,635                 4,220                   27,855                 
Disposals ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (19,230)               (15,699)               (34,929)               

Balance at the end of the year 92,193                 17,890                 110,083              

Year ended 30 June 2018
Balance at the beginning of year 106,351              27,801                 134,152              
Additions -                       13,477                 13,477                 
Disposals ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (18,563)               (11,909)               (30,472)               
Balance at the end of the year 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              

14.29% to 33.33%

Depreciation rate

20% to 25%
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3.1.2 Employee benefits in the balance sheet continued

Long service leave   

Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. 

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability; even where GCWWRRG 
does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months. 

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at: 

 - undiscounted value  if GCWWRRG expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and 
 - present value if GCWWRRG does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction, 
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an
‘other economic flow’ in the net result. 

3.1.3 Superannuation

Employees of GCWWRRG are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and GCWWRRG contributes to defined
contribution plans.

GCWWRRG makes majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to a number of 
superannuation schemes administered by various super fund management organisations including the Local Authorities 
Superannuation Fund i.e. Vision Super (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and 
defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an
expense in Comprehensive Operating Statement when they are made or due. 

The amount charged to the comprehensive income statement in respect of superannuation represents 
contributions made or due by GCWWRRG to the relevant superannuation plans in respect to the services of GCWWRRG's 
staff (both past and present).  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the relevant rules 
of each plan and any relevant compulsory superannuation requirements that GCWWRRG is required to comply with.

Accumulation 

The Fund's accumulation category, Vision Super, receives both employer and employee contributions on a progressive 
basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee earnings (for the year ended 30 
June 2019, this was 9.5% required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation). 

Defined Benefit 
GCWWRRG do not have any staff who are members of the Defined Benefit category.

Contributions by GCWWRRG (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019 are detailed below:

Rate 2019 2018
% $ $

9.5 21,357 20,485
Vic Super 9.5 12,282                        -   
ESS Super 9.5 11,068 10,694

9.5 8,454                        -   
9.5 8,251 7,476
9.5 4,038                        -   
9.5                        -   7,850
9.5                        -   3,584
9.5 6,128 6,568

71,578 56,657

There were no outstanding contributions with any super funds at year end (2018 $0) 

3.2 Project expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Project operation expenses 399,047 259,235
Total 399,047 259,235

Project expenses are recognised in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. Grants can take the form of
money, assets, goods, services or forgiveness of liabilities.

3.3 Other operating expenses 2019 2018
$ $

Supplies and services
Purchase of services 174,343 121,749
Maintenance 21,777 35,016

Operating lease rental expenses
Lease payments 28,307 43,340

Total 224,427 200,105

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. It also
includes bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed.

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.

Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use
of the leased asset.

First Wrap Plus Super

Scheme Type of scheme

Bendigo Smart Start Super Defined contribution 
Other Defined contribution 
Total

UniSuper

Paid Contributions for
the Year

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Australian Super Defined contribution 

PSSAP Fund Defined contribution 

Vision Super Defined contribution 

Defined contribution 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

4 Key Assets Available to Support Output Delivery

GCWWRRG controls infrastructure and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its 
activities. They represent the resources that have been entrusted to GCWWRRG to be utilised for delivery of those outputs.

Where the assets included in this section are carried at fair value, additional information is disclosed in Note 4.1 in 
connection with how those fair values were determined.

Structure
4.1 Property, plant & equipment
4.2 Other economic flows included in net result  Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

4.1 Property, plant and equipment 2019 2018
Note $ $

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at Cost 62,775 58,555
Accumulated depreciation (44,885)             (29,186)             
Total plant and equipment 17,890              29,369              

Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles at Cost 147,390            123,755            
Accumulated depreciation (55,197)             (35,967)             
Total motor vehicles 92,193              87,788              

Total property, plant and equipment 110,083            117,157            

Property, plant & equipment recognition:

All non financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently reported at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date 
of acquisition. 

The initial cost for non financial physical assets under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Subsequent measurement:

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, GCWWRRG determines the policies and procedures for both recurring 
property, plant and equipment fair value measurements, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.

Plant and equipment and Motor vehicles are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Motor Vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method.  Management set relevant depreciation rates  reflect
the utilisation of the vehicles.

Fair value for plant and equipment that are specialised in use (such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern)
is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.

There were no changes to valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019.

Refer to Note 4.1(b) for additional information on fair value determination of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation  2019 2018
Note $ $

Depreciation
Motor Vehicles 19,230              18,563              
Plant and Equipment 15,699              11,909              
Total Depreciation 34,929              30,472              

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the assets useful life to GCWWRRG, commencing 
when the asset is ready for use.

Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or
their estimated useful life.

Depreciation Rates   

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:
Fixed asset class

Motor Vehicles
Plant and Equipment

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is 
reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. There have been no changes in depreciation
rates from the prior year and during the current year.

Impairment of non financial physical assets  

In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount either in profit and loss or as a revaluation decrease.
If the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset, a formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by GCWWRRG to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows, which will 
be received from the asset's employment and subsequent disposal. 

The expected net cash flows have not been discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment  

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the 
end of the current financial year:

Motor Plant &
Vehicles Equipment Total

$ $ $
Year ended 30 June 2019
Balance at the beginning of year 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Additions 23,635                 4,220                   27,855                 
Disposals ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (19,230)               (15,699)               (34,929)               

Balance at the end of the year 92,193                 17,890                 110,083              

Year ended 30 June 2018
Balance at the beginning of year 106,351              27,801                 134,152              
Additions -                       13,477                 13,477                 
Disposals ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (18,563)               (11,909)               (30,472)               
Balance at the end of the year 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              

14.29% to 33.33%

Depreciation rate

20% to 25%

4. Key Assets Available to Support Output Delivery
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment 2019 2018
Note $ $

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at Cost 62,775 58,555
Accumulated depreciation (44,885)             (29,186)             
Total plant and equipment 17,890              29,369              

Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles at Cost 147,390            123,755            
Accumulated depreciation (55,197)             (35,967)             
Total motor vehicles 92,193              87,788              

Total property, plant and equipment 110,083            117,157            

Property, plant & equipment recognition:

All non financial physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently reported at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date 
of acquisition. 

The initial cost for non financial physical assets under a finance lease is measured at amounts equal to the fair value of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease.

Subsequent measurement:

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, GCWWRRG determines the policies and procedures for both recurring 
property, plant and equipment fair value measurements, in accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.

Plant and equipment and Motor vehicles are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Motor Vehicles are valued using the depreciated replacement cost method.  Management set relevant depreciation rates  reflect
the utilisation of the vehicles.

Fair value for plant and equipment that are specialised in use (such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern)
is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.

There were no changes to valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2019.

Refer to Note 4.1(b) for additional information on fair value determination of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation  2019 2018
Note $ $

Depreciation
Motor Vehicles 19,230              18,563              
Plant and Equipment 15,699              11,909              
Total Depreciation 34,929              30,472              

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the assets useful life to GCWWRRG, commencing 
when the asset is ready for use.

Leased assets and leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or
their estimated useful life.

Depreciation Rates   

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are shown below:
Fixed asset class

Motor Vehicles
Plant and Equipment

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is 
reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. There have been no changes in depreciation
rates from the prior year and during the current year.

Impairment of non financial physical assets  

In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount either in profit and loss or as a revaluation decrease.
If the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset, a formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment 
indicators are present. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by GCWWRRG to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows, which will 
be received from the asset's employment and subsequent disposal. 

The expected net cash flows have not been discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.

(a) Movements in carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment  

Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and the 
end of the current financial year:

Motor Plant &
Vehicles Equipment Total

$ $ $
Year ended 30 June 2019
Balance at the beginning of year 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Additions 23,635                 4,220                   27,855                 
Disposals ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (19,230)               (15,699)               (34,929)               

Balance at the end of the year 92,193                 17,890                 110,083              

Year ended 30 June 2018
Balance at the beginning of year 106,351              27,801                 134,152              
Additions -                       13,477                 13,477                 
Disposals ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (18,563)               (11,909)               (30,472)               
Balance at the end of the year 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              

14.29% to 33.33%

Depreciation rate

20% to 25%

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2018

4.1 Property, plant and equipment continued

(b) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at the balance date  

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i) Carrying Amount

$ $ $ $
2019
Motor vehicles at fair value - -                  92,193 92,193
Plant & equipment at fair value - -                  17,890 17,890

                          -                             -                  110,083 110,083

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i) Carrying Amount

$ $ $ $
2018
Motor vehicles at fair value - - 87,788 87,788
Plant & equipment at fair value - - 29,369 29,369

                          -                             -   117,157 117,157

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1.

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Motor vehicles

Given the significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, motor vehicles are classified as level 3.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the financial year.

Plant & equipment 

Office and Computer equipment are held at fair value. When Office and Computer equipment are specialised in use,     
such that they are rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated 
replacement cost method. Given the significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, office and computer equipment 
are classified as level 3. There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the financial year.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs have not changed since the prior year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
Motor Plant &

Vehicles Equipment Total
$ $ $

2019
Opening balance 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Purchase 23,635                 4,220                   27,855                 
Disposal ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (19,230)               (15,699)               (34,929)               
Closing balance 92,193                 17,890                 110,083              
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non‑financial assets - - -                       

2018
Opening balance 106,351              27,801                 134,152              
Purchase -                       13,477                 13,477                 
Disposal ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (18,563)               (11,909)               (30,472)               
Closing balance 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non‑financial assets - - -                       

The table below, provides descriptions of significant unobservable inputs, that may impact Level 3 valuations.

Valuation 
Technique (i)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (i)
Cost per unit 

Useful life 

Cost per unit 

Useful life 

(i) Illustrations on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs and the related quantitative range of 
those inputs are indicative and should not be directly used without consultation with GCWWRRG.

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost 

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 

A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of the asset 
would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation. 

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in Significant 
Unobservable Inputs

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost 

Motor vehicles

Plant & equipment

A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of the asset 
would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation. 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment continued

(b) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at the balance date  

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i) Carrying Amount

$ $ $ $
2019
Motor vehicles at fair value - -                  92,193 92,193
Plant & equipment at fair value - -                  17,890 17,890

                          -                             -                  110,083 110,083

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i) Carrying Amount

$ $ $ $
2018
Motor vehicles at fair value - - 87,788 87,788
Plant & equipment at fair value - - 29,369 29,369

                          -                             -   117,157 117,157

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1.

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Motor vehicles

Given the significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, motor vehicles are classified as level 3.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the financial year.

Plant & equipment 

Office and Computer equipment are held at fair value. When Office and Computer equipment are specialised in use,     
such that they are rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated 
replacement cost method. Given the significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, office and computer equipment 
are classified as level 3. There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the financial year.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs have not changed since the prior year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
Motor Plant &

Vehicles Equipment Total
$ $ $

2019
Opening balance 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Purchase 23,635                 4,220                   27,855                 
Disposal ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (19,230)               (15,699)               (34,929)               
Closing balance 92,193                 17,890                 110,083              
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non‑financial assets - - -                       

2018
Opening balance 106,351              27,801                 134,152              
Purchase -                       13,477                 13,477                 
Disposal ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (18,563)               (11,909)               (30,472)               
Closing balance 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non‑financial assets - - -                       

The table below, provides descriptions of significant unobservable inputs, that may impact Level 3 valuations.

Valuation 
Technique (i)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (i)
Cost per unit 

Useful life 

Cost per unit 

Useful life 

(i) Illustrations on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs and the related quantitative range of 
those inputs are indicative and should not be directly used without consultation with GCWWRRG.

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost 

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 

A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of the asset 
would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation. 

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in Significant 
Unobservable Inputs

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost 

Motor vehicles

Plant & equipment

A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of the asset 
would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation. 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment continued

(b) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at the balance date  

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i) Carrying Amount

$ $ $ $
2019
Motor vehicles at fair value - -                  92,193 92,193
Plant & equipment at fair value - -                  17,890 17,890

                          -                             -                  110,083 110,083

Level 1(i) Level 2(i) Level 3(i) Carrying Amount

$ $ $ $
2018
Motor vehicles at fair value - - 87,788 87,788
Plant & equipment at fair value - - 29,369 29,369

                          -                             -   117,157 117,157

(i) Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1.

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Motor vehicles

Given the significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, motor vehicles are classified as level 3.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the financial year.

Plant & equipment 

Office and Computer equipment are held at fair value. When Office and Computer equipment are specialised in use,     
such that they are rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, fair value is determined using the depreciated 
replacement cost method. Given the significant unobservable inputs in the valuation, office and computer equipment 
are classified as level 3. There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the financial year.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs have not changed since the prior year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
Motor Plant &

Vehicles Equipment Total
$ $ $

2019
Opening balance 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Purchase 23,635                 4,220                   27,855                 
Disposal ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (19,230)               (15,699)               (34,929)               
Closing balance 92,193                 17,890                 110,083              
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non‑financial assets - - -                       

2018
Opening balance 106,351              27,801                 134,152              
Purchase -                       13,477                 13,477                 
Disposal ‑ written down value -                       -                       -                       
Depreciation expense (18,563)               (11,909)               (30,472)               
Closing balance 87,788                 29,369                 117,157              
Unrealised gains/(losses) on non‑financial assets - - -                       

The table below, provides descriptions of significant unobservable inputs, that may impact Level 3 valuations.

Valuation 
Technique (i)

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs (i)
Cost per unit 

Useful life 

Cost per unit 

Useful life 

(i) Illustrations on the valuation techniques, significant unobservable inputs and the related quantitative range of 
those inputs are indicative and should not be directly used without consultation with GCWWRRG.

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost 

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 

A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of the asset 
would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation. 

Sensitivity of Fair Value Measurement to Changes in Significant 
Unobservable Inputs

A significant increase or decrease in cost per unit would result in a 
significantly higher or lower fair value 

Depreciated 
replacement 
cost 

Motor vehicles

Plant & equipment

A significant increase or decrease in the estimated useful life of the asset 
would result in a significantly higher or lower valuation. 
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5 Other Assets and Liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the GCWWRRG's controlled operations.

Structure
5.1 Trade and other receivables 
5.2 Other non-financial assets
5.3 Trade and other payablesNotes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

5.1 Trade and other receivables 2019 2018
Note $ $

CURRENT
Statutory
Landfill levy and other receivables 262,985 236,093
Other receivables - GST receivable -                       -                       

Total trade and other receivables 262,985            236,093

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less allowance for 
doubtful debts. Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 14 days from the date of recognition. 

Collectability of trade receivables, which is all from either State or Local Government is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that GCWWRRG will not be able to collect
all amounts due, according to the original terms of receivables and debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off.

The amount of the provision (if established) would be the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is 
recognised in the balance sheet.

An assessment has been done in regard to implementation of AASB 9.  With no material financial impact expected to GCWWRRG.

5.2 Other non-financial assets 2019 2018
Note $ $

CURRENT
Prepayments 11,628 12,990

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of 
expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

5.3 Trade and other payables 2019 2018
Note $ $

Statutory
              71,219               69,878 
              71,219 69,878

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to GCWWRRG prior to the end of the financial year, which 
are unpaid at financial year end. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Please refer to Note 7.1.1 for the maturity analysis of trade and other payables.

Sundry payables and accrued expenses
Total trade and other payables

CURRENT

5. Other Assets and Liabilities
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6 Financing our Operations

This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by GCWWRRG during its operations, along with any interest 
expenses (the cost of borrowings) and other information related to financing the activities of the GCWWRRG.

This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments (such as borrowings and cash balances). 
Note 7.1(e) provides additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.

Structure
6.1 Leasing Commitments
6.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
6.3 Cash Flow informationNotes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

6.1 Leasing Commitments 2019 2018
Note $ $

(a) Operating Leases  
Minimum lease payments under non‑cancellable operating leases:

31,167 28,307
70,833 2,108

            102,000 30,415

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not 
the legal ownership that are transferred to GCWWRRG are classified as finance leases.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are
charged as expenses on a straight line basis over the life of the lease term.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight line basis over the
life of the lease term.

Operating leases commitments consist of the leases on two office buildings.

6.2 Cash and cash equivalents 2019 2018
Note $ $

   
Cash at bank 483,623 760,206

483,623 760,206

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and short term investments which are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

The GCWWRRG as a public sector agency is required to undertake all borrowings, investments and financial arrangements over 
$2 million with Treasury Corporation of Victoria ('TCV') and Victorian Funds Management Corporation ('VFMC') in accordance 
with the Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy.

6.3 Cash Flow information 2019 2018
Note $ $

(a) Reconciliation of net result for the year to cashflows from operating activities  

Result for the year            (253,426)             151,617 
Non‑cash flows in net result:    
         ‑ depreciation               34,929               30,472 
Changes in assets and liabilities:
         ‑ (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables              (26,892)               23,965 
         ‑ (increase)/decrease in other assets                  1,362                  1,162 
         ‑ increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables                  1,341              (15,521)
         ‑ increase/(decrease) in employee benefits                (6,042)               16,375 
Cashflow from operations            (248,728)             208,070 

‑ not later than one year
‑ between one year and five years

6. Financing our Operations
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6.1 Leasing Commitments 2019 2018
Note $ $

(a) Operating Leases  
Minimum lease payments under non‑cancellable operating leases:

31,167 28,307
70,833 2,108

            102,000 30,415

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not 
the legal ownership that are transferred to GCWWRRG are classified as finance leases.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are
charged as expenses on a straight line basis over the life of the lease term.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight line basis over the
life of the lease term.

Operating leases commitments consist of the leases on two office buildings.

6.2 Cash and cash equivalents 2019 2018
Note $ $

   
Cash at bank 483,623 760,206

483,623 760,206

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and short term investments which are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

The GCWWRRG as a public sector agency is required to undertake all borrowings, investments and financial arrangements over 
$2 million with Treasury Corporation of Victoria ('TCV') and Victorian Funds Management Corporation ('VFMC') in accordance 
with the Centralised Treasury and Investment Policy.

6.3 Cash Flow information 2019 2018
Note $ $

(a) Reconciliation of net result for the year to cashflows from operating activities  

Result for the year            (253,426)             151,617 
Non‑cash flows in net result:    
         ‑ depreciation               34,929               30,472 
Changes in assets and liabilities:
         ‑ (increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables              (26,892)               23,965 
         ‑ (increase)/decrease in other assets                  1,362                  1,162 
         ‑ increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables                  1,341              (15,521)
         ‑ increase/(decrease) in employee benefits                (6,042)               16,375 
Cashflow from operations            (248,728)             208,070 

‑ not later than one year
‑ between one year and five years

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

7 Risks and Judgement

The GCWWRRG is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make judgements and
estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section sets out financial
instrument specific judgement to be applied, which for GCWWRRG related mainly to fair value determination.

Structure
7.1 Financial instruments disclosures

7.1 Financial instruments disclosures

GCWWRRG is exposed to a variety of financial risks through its use of financial instruments.

GCWWRRG does not speculate in financial assets.

The most significant financial risks to which GCWWRRG is exposed to are described below:

Specific risks

·                Market risk ‑ interest rate risk;
·                Credit risk; and
·                Liquidity risk

Financial instruments used
The principal categories of financial instrument used by GCWWRRG are:
·                Trade receivables;
·                Cash and short term deposits at bank;
·                Trade and other payables;

Specific information regarding the mitigation of each financial risk to which GCWWRRG is exposed is provided below.

7. Risks and Judgement
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7.1.1 Financial instruments: Categorisation

Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values have not been written down as GCWWRRG intends to
hold these assets to maturity. 

The following table shows that the fair values of the contractual financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised 
cost.

Carrying Amount Fair Value
2019 2019

$ $
Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits                483,623                483,623 
Total contractual financial assets                483,623                483,623 
Contractual financial liabilities
Payables (i)                  71,219                  71,219 
Total contractual financial liabilities                  71,219                  71,219 

Carrying Amount Fair Value
2018 2018

$ $
Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits                760,206                760,206 
Total contractual financial assets                760,206                760,206 
Contractual financial liabilities
Payables (i)                  69,878                  69,878 
Total contractual financial liabilities                  69,878                  69,878 

Note: (i) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable and tax 
payables).

7.1.2 Financial instruments: Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Total interest  
income/  

(expense)
Total

2019 2019

$ $

Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits (i)                    8,197                    8,197 
Total contractual financial assets                    8,197                    8,197 

Total interest  
income/  

(expense)
Total

2018 2018
$ $

Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits (i)                    8,056                    8,056 
Total contractual financial assets                    8,056                    8,056 

(i) For cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is calculated by
taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, interest revenue, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from
revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments: Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default on its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  GCWWRRG's
exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to GCWWRRG.  Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with GCWWRRG's contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian
Government.  For debtors other than the Government, it is GCWWRRG's policy to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a
minimum Triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, GCWWRRG does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual financial
assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank.  As with the policy for debtors, GCWWRRG's
policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that GCWWRRG will not be
able to collect a receivable.  Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are
more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents GCWWRRG maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the
value of any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2019 2019 2019

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                483,623                           -                  483,623 
Total contractual financial assets                483,623                           -                  483,623 

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2018 2018 2018

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                760,206                           -                  760,206 
Total contractual financial assets                760,206                           -                  760,206 

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and
GST input tax credit recoverable).

Financial instruments: Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of GCWWRRG's operational liquidity requirements:

‑ GCWWRRG will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
‑ GCWWRRG will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth, or
‑ GCWWRRG may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.

To help reduce these risks, GCWWRRG:

‑ has a cash management policy advising that a level of cash or equivalents must be maintained to cover transactions,
redeem invested funds before maturity, only forfeiting the interest that would have been earned between the redemption 
date and maturity;

‑ monitors cash flow performance on a regular basis, based on historical high and low flow periods.

Financial instruments: Market Risk

GCWWRRG's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and
other price risks.  Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed below.

Interest Rate Risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. GCWWRRG does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and
therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.  GCWWRRG has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, term
deposits and bank overdrafts that are at floating rate.

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.75 1.75                483,623                760,206                           -                             -   
Receivables and other receivables (i) - -  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Assets                483,623                760,206 -                    -                    
Financial Liabilities:
Trade and sundry payables (i) - -                           -                             -                    71,219 69,878

Total Financial Liabilities                           -                             -                    71,219                  69,878 

Weighted Average Effective 
Interest Rate

Floating Interest Rate Maturing within 1 Year
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7.1.1 Financial instruments: Categorisation

Financial assets where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values have not been written down as GCWWRRG intends to
hold these assets to maturity. 

The following table shows that the fair values of the contractual financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised 
cost.

Carrying Amount Fair Value
2019 2019

$ $
Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits                483,623                483,623 
Total contractual financial assets                483,623                483,623 
Contractual financial liabilities
Payables (i)                  71,219                  71,219 
Total contractual financial liabilities                  71,219                  71,219 

Carrying Amount Fair Value
2018 2018

$ $
Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits                760,206                760,206 
Total contractual financial assets                760,206                760,206 
Contractual financial liabilities
Payables (i)                  69,878                  69,878 
Total contractual financial liabilities                  69,878                  69,878 

Note: (i) The carrying amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable and tax 
payables).

7.1.2 Financial instruments: Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Total interest  
income/  

(expense)
Total

2019 2019

$ $

Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits (i)                    8,197                    8,197 
Total contractual financial assets                    8,197                    8,197 

Total interest  
income/  

(expense)
Total

2018 2018
$ $

Contractual financial assets
Cash and deposits (i)                    8,056                    8,056 
Total contractual financial assets                    8,056                    8,056 

(i) For cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is calculated by
taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, interest revenue, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses arising from
revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments: Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default on its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  GCWWRRG's
exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to GCWWRRG.  Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with GCWWRRG's contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian
Government.  For debtors other than the Government, it is GCWWRRG's policy to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a
minimum Triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, GCWWRRG does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual financial
assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank.  As with the policy for debtors, GCWWRRG's
policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that GCWWRRG will not be
able to collect a receivable.  Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are
more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents GCWWRRG maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the
value of any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2019 2019 2019

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                483,623                           -                  483,623 
Total contractual financial assets                483,623                           -                  483,623 

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2018 2018 2018

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                760,206                           -                  760,206 
Total contractual financial assets                760,206                           -                  760,206 

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and
GST input tax credit recoverable).

Financial instruments: Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of GCWWRRG's operational liquidity requirements:

‑ GCWWRRG will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
‑ GCWWRRG will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth, or
‑ GCWWRRG may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.

To help reduce these risks, GCWWRRG:

‑ has a cash management policy advising that a level of cash or equivalents must be maintained to cover transactions,
redeem invested funds before maturity, only forfeiting the interest that would have been earned between the redemption 
date and maturity;

‑ monitors cash flow performance on a regular basis, based on historical high and low flow periods.

Financial instruments: Market Risk

GCWWRRG's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and
other price risks.  Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed below.

Interest Rate Risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. GCWWRRG does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and
therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.  GCWWRRG has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, term
deposits and bank overdrafts that are at floating rate.

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.75 1.75                483,623                760,206                           -                             -   
Receivables and other receivables (i) - -  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Assets                483,623                760,206 -                    -                    
Financial Liabilities:
Trade and sundry payables (i) - -                           -                             -                    71,219 69,878

Total Financial Liabilities                           -                             -                    71,219                  69,878 

Weighted Average Effective 
Interest Rate

Floating Interest Rate Maturing within 1 Year
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8 Other disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Structure
8.1 Remuneration of Auditors
8.2 Ex- gratia payments
8.3 Responsible person disclosure
8.4 Related parties 
8.5 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date
8.6 Contingencies
8.7 AASBs Issued That Are Not Yet Effective

8.1 Remuneration of Auditors 2019 2018
Note $ $

-  Auditor- General for audit of financial statements 12,900 12,900

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments: Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default on its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  GCWWRRG's
exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to GCWWRRG.  Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with GCWWRRG's contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian
Government.  For debtors other than the Government, it is GCWWRRG's policy to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a
minimum Triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, GCWWRRG does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual financial
assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank.  As with the policy for debtors, GCWWRRG's
policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that GCWWRRG will not be
able to collect a receivable.  Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are
more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents GCWWRRG maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the
value of any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2019 2019 2019

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                483,623                           -                  483,623 
Total contractual financial assets                483,623                           -                  483,623 

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2018 2018 2018

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                760,206                           -                  760,206 
Total contractual financial assets                760,206                           -                  760,206 

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and
GST input tax credit recoverable).

Financial instruments: Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of GCWWRRG's operational liquidity requirements:

‑ GCWWRRG will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
‑ GCWWRRG will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth, or
‑ GCWWRRG may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.

To help reduce these risks, GCWWRRG:

‑ has a cash management policy advising that a level of cash or equivalents must be maintained to cover transactions,
redeem invested funds before maturity, only forfeiting the interest that would have been earned between the redemption 
date and maturity;

‑ monitors cash flow performance on a regular basis, based on historical high and low flow periods.

Financial instruments: Market Risk

GCWWRRG's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and
other price risks.  Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed below.

Interest Rate Risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. GCWWRRG does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and
therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.  GCWWRRG has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, term
deposits and bank overdrafts that are at floating rate.

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.75 1.75                483,623                760,206                           -                             -   
Receivables and other receivables (i) - -  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Assets                483,623                760,206 -                    -                    
Financial Liabilities:
Trade and sundry payables (i) - -                           -                             -                    71,219 69,878

Total Financial Liabilities                           -                             -                    71,219                  69,878 

Weighted Average Effective 
Interest Rate

Floating Interest Rate Maturing within 1 Year
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7.1.3 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments: Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a borrower will default on its financial obligations as and when they fall due.  GCWWRRG's
exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss
to GCWWRRG.  Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with GCWWRRG's contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the Victorian
Government.  For debtors other than the Government, it is GCWWRRG's policy to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a
minimum Triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, GCWWRRG does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains contractual financial
assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank.  As with the policy for debtors, GCWWRRG's
policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that GCWWRRG will not be
able to collect a receivable.  Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments, debts which are
more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded in the financial
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents GCWWRRG maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the
value of any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2019 2019 2019

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                483,623                           -                  483,623 
Total contractual financial assets                483,623                           -                  483,623 

Financial Government
Institutions Agencies

(Min BBB credit (Min BBB credit
rating) rating) Total
2018 2018 2018

$ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents                760,206                           -                  760,206 
Total contractual financial assets                760,206                           -                  760,206 

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. amounts owing from Victorian Government and
GST input tax credit recoverable).

Financial instruments: Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of GCWWRRG's operational liquidity requirements:

‑ GCWWRRG will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the date;
‑ GCWWRRG will be forced to sell financial assets at a value which is less than what they are worth, or
‑ GCWWRRG may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all.

To help reduce these risks, GCWWRRG:

‑ has a cash management policy advising that a level of cash or equivalents must be maintained to cover transactions,
redeem invested funds before maturity, only forfeiting the interest that would have been earned between the redemption 
date and maturity;

‑ monitors cash flow performance on a regular basis, based on historical high and low flow periods.

Financial instruments: Market Risk

GCWWRRG's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and
other price risks.  Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed below.

Interest Rate Risk
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. GCWWRRG does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair value, and
therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.  GCWWRRG has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, term
deposits and bank overdrafts that are at floating rate.

Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.75 1.75                483,623                760,206                           -                             -   
Receivables and other receivables (i) - -  -  -  -  - 

Total Financial Assets                483,623                760,206 -                    -                    
Financial Liabilities:
Trade and sundry payables (i) - -                           -                             -                    71,219 69,878

Total Financial Liabilities                           -                             -                    71,219                  69,878 

Weighted Average Effective 
Interest Rate

Floating Interest Rate Maturing within 1 Year
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8 Other disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the 
understanding of this financial report.

Structure
8.1 Remuneration of Auditors
8.2 Ex- gratia payments
8.3 Responsible person disclosure
8.4 Related parties 
8.5 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date
8.6 Contingencies
8.7 AASBs Issued That Are Not Yet Effective

8.1 Remuneration of Auditors 2019 2018
Note $ $

-  Auditor- General for audit of financial statements 12,900 12,900

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 30 June 2019

8.2 Ex- gratia payments 

There were no ex-gratia payments paid by GCWWRRG (2018: nil).

8.3 Responsible person disclosure

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA),
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of ministers and accountable officers in GCWWRRG are as follows:

The responsible minister for the full year was the Hon Lily D'Ambrosio, Minister for Energy, Environment, Climate Change.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and
allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services’ Financial Report.

Board members  Tenure Remuneration
Director Sebastian Klein (Chair of Board) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Patrick Goodall (Chair of Audit & Risk) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Andrew Pittard 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Belinda Coates 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Bridget Wetherall 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Corinne Heintze 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Kevin Erwin 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robert Miller 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robyn Evans 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000

Accountable O�cer 
Ms La Vergne Lehmann (1/07/2018 to 30/06/2019).

In total, there were 11 Responsible Persons during 2018-19 including the Minister, 9 Board members for all or part of the year
and the Chief Executive Officer, whose remuneration is detailed below.

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2019 2018
Income Band $ $
$0,000 - $9,999 9 7
$10,000 - $19,999 -                    1
$140,000 - $149,999 1 1
Total Numbers 10 9
Total remuneration received or due and receivable by 
Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to: 170,858 195,866

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer was in the range: $140,000 - $149,999 (2018: $140,000 - $149,999).

8.4 Related parties

GCWWRRG is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of GCWWRRG include:
•         all key management personnel and their close family members;
•         all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
•         all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
           financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Key management personnel of the GCWWRRG include the Portfolio Minister, the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives.

Key management personnel consist of the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer as detailed in Note 8.3.

2019
($’000)

               153,090 
                 14,541 
                   3,226 
                          -   

               170,858 

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further 
employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration  Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 
Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 
requirements. Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the GCWWRRG, there were no related party transactions 
that involved key management personnel and their close family members except as noted below. No provision has been required,
nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

There were no other executives whose remuneration needs to be disclosed under FRD 21C.

Related Party Transactions
GCWWRRG received funding from the DELWP of $962,080 (2018: $1,169,373).
Funding from DELWP consisted of $962,080 for Landfill Levy.

8.5 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the GCWWRRG, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the GCWWRRG 
in future financial years.

8.6 Contingencies  

To the best of GCWWRRG's knowledge, GCWWRRG did not have any other contingencies at 30 June 2019.  (Nil for 30 June 2018).

Compensation

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits 
Share based payments
Total

8. Other Disclosures
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8.2 Ex- gratia payments 

There were no ex-gratia payments paid by GCWWRRG (2018: nil).

8.3 Responsible person disclosure

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA),
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of ministers and accountable officers in GCWWRRG are as follows:

The responsible minister for the full year was the Hon Lily D'Ambrosio, Minister for Energy, Environment, Climate Change.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and
allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services’ Financial Report.

Board members  Tenure Remuneration
Director Sebastian Klein (Chair of Board) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Patrick Goodall (Chair of Audit & Risk) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Andrew Pittard 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Belinda Coates 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Bridget Wetherall 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Corinne Heintze 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Kevin Erwin 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robert Miller 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robyn Evans 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000

Accountable O�cer 
Ms La Vergne Lehmann (1/07/2018 to 30/06/2019).

In total, there were 11 Responsible Persons during 2018-19 including the Minister, 9 Board members for all or part of the year
and the Chief Executive Officer, whose remuneration is detailed below.

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2019 2018
Income Band $ $
$0,000 - $9,999 9 7
$10,000 - $19,999 -                    1
$140,000 - $149,999 1 1
Total Numbers 10 9
Total remuneration received or due and receivable by 
Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to: 170,858 195,866

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer was in the range: $140,000 - $149,999 (2018: $140,000 - $149,999).

8.4 Related parties

GCWWRRG is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of GCWWRRG include:
•         all key management personnel and their close family members;
•         all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
•         all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
           financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Key management personnel of the GCWWRRG include the Portfolio Minister, the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives.

Key management personnel consist of the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer as detailed in Note 8.3.

2019
($’000)

               153,090 
                 14,541 
                   3,226 
                          -   

               170,858 

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further 
employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration  Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 
Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 
requirements. Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the GCWWRRG, there were no related party transactions 
that involved key management personnel and their close family members except as noted below. No provision has been required,
nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

There were no other executives whose remuneration needs to be disclosed under FRD 21C.

Related Party Transactions
GCWWRRG received funding from the DELWP of $962,080 (2018: $1,169,373).
Funding from DELWP consisted of $962,080 for Landfill Levy.

8.5 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the GCWWRRG, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the GCWWRRG 
in future financial years.

8.6 Contingencies  

To the best of GCWWRRG's knowledge, GCWWRRG did not have any other contingencies at 30 June 2019.  (Nil for 30 June 2018).

Compensation

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits 
Share based payments
Total
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8.2 Ex- gratia payments 

There were no ex-gratia payments paid by GCWWRRG (2018: nil).

8.3 Responsible person disclosure

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA),
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of ministers and accountable officers in GCWWRRG are as follows:

The responsible minister for the full year was the Hon Lily D'Ambrosio, Minister for Energy, Environment, Climate Change.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and
allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services’ Financial Report.

Board members  Tenure Remuneration
Director Sebastian Klein (Chair of Board) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Patrick Goodall (Chair of Audit & Risk) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Andrew Pittard 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Belinda Coates 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Bridget Wetherall 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Corinne Heintze 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Kevin Erwin 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robert Miller 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robyn Evans 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000

Accountable O�cer 
Ms La Vergne Lehmann (1/07/2018 to 30/06/2019).

In total, there were 11 Responsible Persons during 2018-19 including the Minister, 9 Board members for all or part of the year
and the Chief Executive Officer, whose remuneration is detailed below.

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2019 2018
Income Band $ $
$0,000 - $9,999 9 7
$10,000 - $19,999 -                    1
$140,000 - $149,999 1 1
Total Numbers 10 9
Total remuneration received or due and receivable by 
Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to: 170,858 195,866

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer was in the range: $140,000 - $149,999 (2018: $140,000 - $149,999).

8.4 Related parties

GCWWRRG is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of GCWWRRG include:
•         all key management personnel and their close family members;
•         all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
•         all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
           financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Key management personnel of the GCWWRRG include the Portfolio Minister, the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives.

Key management personnel consist of the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer as detailed in Note 8.3.

2019
($’000)

               153,090 
                 14,541 
                   3,226 
                          -   

               170,858 

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further 
employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration  Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 
Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 
requirements. Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the GCWWRRG, there were no related party transactions 
that involved key management personnel and their close family members except as noted below. No provision has been required,
nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

There were no other executives whose remuneration needs to be disclosed under FRD 21C.

Related Party Transactions
GCWWRRG received funding from the DELWP of $962,080 (2018: $1,169,373).
Funding from DELWP consisted of $962,080 for Landfill Levy.

8.5 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the GCWWRRG, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the GCWWRRG 
in future financial years.

8.6 Contingencies  

To the best of GCWWRRG's knowledge, GCWWRRG did not have any other contingencies at 30 June 2019.  (Nil for 30 June 2018).

Compensation

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits 
Share based payments
Total
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8.7 AASBs Issued That Are Not Yet Effective

1-January-19 There is no material 
financial impact expected.

1-January-19 There is no material 
financial impact expected.

1-January-19 There is no material 
financial impact expected.

Impact on financial statementsApplicable for annual reporting 
periods beginning on

Summary

The core principle of AASB 15 requires an entity to recognise 
revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to a customer. Note 
that amending standard AASB 2015 8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15 
has deferred the effective date of AASB 15 to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, instead of 1 
January 2017 for Not-for-Profit entities.

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced by AASB 16 include the recognition 
of most operating leases (which are currently not recognised) 
on balance sheet.
AASB 1058 will replace the majority of income recognition in 
relation to government grants and other types of contributions 
requirements relating to public sector not-for-profit entities, 
previously in AASB 1004 Contributions. 

AASB 1058 
Income of Not-for-
Profit Entities

Standard/
Interpretation
AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers
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8.2 Ex- gratia payments 

There were no ex-gratia payments paid by GCWWRRG (2018: nil).

8.3 Responsible person disclosure

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 (FMA),
the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

The persons who held the positions of ministers and accountable officers in GCWWRRG are as follows:

The responsible minister for the full year was the Hon Lily D'Ambrosio, Minister for Energy, Environment, Climate Change.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s remuneration and
allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported within the Department of Parliamentary
Services’ Financial Report.

Board members  Tenure Remuneration
Director Sebastian Klein (Chair of Board) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Patrick Goodall (Chair of Audit & Risk) 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Andrew Pittard 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Belinda Coates 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Bridget Wetherall 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Corinne Heintze 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Kevin Erwin 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robert Miller 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000
Director Robyn Evans 1/7/2018 to 30/6/2019 $0 to $10,000

Accountable O�cer 
Ms La Vergne Lehmann (1/07/2018 to 30/06/2019).

In total, there were 11 Responsible Persons during 2018-19 including the Minister, 9 Board members for all or part of the year
and the Chief Executive Officer, whose remuneration is detailed below.

Remuneration of Responsible Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2019 2018
Income Band $ $
$0,000 - $9,999 9 7
$10,000 - $19,999 -                    1
$140,000 - $149,999 1 1
Total Numbers 10 9
Total remuneration received or due and receivable by 
Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to: 170,858 195,866

Remuneration received or receivable by the Accountable Officer was in the range: $140,000 - $149,999 (2018: $140,000 - $149,999).

8.4 Related parties

GCWWRRG is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Victoria. Related parties of GCWWRRG include:
•         all key management personnel and their close family members;
•         all cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
•         all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated 
           financial statements.

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm’s length basis.

Key management personnel of the GCWWRRG include the Portfolio Minister, the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives.

Key management personnel consist of the Board, Executive Officer and Accountable officer as detailed in Note 8.3.

2019
($’000)

               153,090 
                 14,541 
                   3,226 
                          -   

               170,858 

Transactions with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector in a 
manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges. Further 
employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Public 
Administration  Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public Sector Commission. 
Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian Government Procurement Board 
requirements. Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the GCWWRRG, there were no related party transactions 
that involved key management personnel and their close family members except as noted below. No provision has been required,
nor any expense recognised, for impairment of receivables from related parties.

There were no other executives whose remuneration needs to be disclosed under FRD 21C.

Related Party Transactions
GCWWRRG received funding from the DELWP of $962,080 (2018: $1,169,373).
Funding from DELWP consisted of $962,080 for Landfill Levy.

8.5 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the GCWWRRG, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the GCWWRRG 
in future financial years.

8.6 Contingencies  

To the best of GCWWRRG's knowledge, GCWWRRG did not have any other contingencies at 30 June 2019.  (Nil for 30 June 2018).

Compensation

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits 
Share based payments
Total
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15.1 Disclosure of Major Contracts
The Grampians Central West WRRG did not enter into any contracts 
valued at $10 million or more during the reporting period.

15.2 Consultancy Expenditure Disclosure
Details of Consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2018-19 there were 2 consultancies engaged for the year which were 
over $10,000.

Details of individual consultancies reported in this and previous years 
is outlined on the Grampians Central West WRRG’s website, at www.
recyclingrevolution.com.au.

Company/
Consultant Project Work exGST

Over $10,000

Regional Resource Recovery Processing Facility

Arcadis 
Australia Business Case $ 36,010.00

Rawtech Collaborative Procurement ‐ ongoing project* $ 32,180.50

Sub-Total $ 68,190.50

Details of Consultancies (valued at less than $10,000)
In 2018-19 there were 4 consultancies engaged for the year which were 
under $10,000.

Company/Consultant Project Work exGST

Under $10,000

Dragon NRG Woody Biomass from Greenwaste 
Investigation $ 5,000.00

Frontier Ag & Environment Literature Review ‐ Organics $ 6,250.00

Landell Collaborative Procurement ‐ 
ongoing project*

$ 5,856.00

Russell Kennedy Lawyers $ 1,519.00

Sub-Total $ 18,625.00

15.3 Disclosure of Grants and Transfer Payments
Grampians Central West WRRG did not make any transfer payments or 
award any grants for the 2018-19 financial year.

15.4 Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Expenditure 
Disclosure
For the 2018-19 reporting period, Grampians Central West WRRG had 
a total ICT expenditure of $24,836.76 (excl. GST).  “ICT expenditure” 
refers to the Group’s costs in providing business enabling ICT services 
(also known as “business as usual” - BAU). There was no expenditure 
which was considered non-business as usual.

15.5 Capital Project Expenditure Disclosure
Grampians Central West WRRG does not have any Capital Projects for 
the 2018-19 financial year.

15.6 Competition Neutrality Policy
Competitive Neutrality requires government businesses to ensure where 
services compete, or potentially compete with the private sector, any 
advantage arising solely from their government ownership be removed 
if it is not in the public interest. Government businesses are required 
to cost and price these services as if they were privately owned. Com-
petitive neutrality policy supports fair competition between public and 
private businesses and provides government businesses with a tool to 

enhance decisions on resource allocation. This policy does not override 
other policy objectives of government and focuses on efficiency in the 
provision of service.

Grampians Central West WRRG continues to comply with the require-
ments of the Competitive Neutrality Policy.

15.7 Disclosure of Government Advertising Expenditure
Grampians Central West Waste and Resource Recovery Group’s 
expenditure in the 2018-19 reporting period on government campaign 
expenditure did not exceed $100,000.

15.8 Local Jobs First Disclosures
The Local Jobs First Act 2003 brings together the Victorian Industry 
Participation Policy (VIPP) and Major Project Skills Guarantee (MPSG) 
policy which were previously administered separately.

The VIPP applies when the Victorian Government’s funding or provision 
of a grant exceeds $3m in Metropolitan Melbourne and $1m in regional 
Victoria. The MPSG applies to all construction projects valued at $20 
million or more.
Reporting Requirements – all projects
There were no contracts over $1 million awarded by Grampians Central 
West WRRG during the reporting period.
Reporting Requirements – grants
There were no conversations with the Industry Capability Network that 
correspond with the registration and issue of an Interaction Reference 
Number by Grampians Central West WRRG during the reporting period.

15.9 Victorian Industry Participation Policy Disclosures
The Victorian Industry Participation Policy (VIPP) aims to ensure that 
local suppliers can participate in procurement and industry assistance 
activities across Government, wherever they offer the best value for 
money.

The VIPP applies when the Victorian Government’s funding or provision 
of a grant exceeds $3m in Metropolitan Melbourne and $1m in regional 
Victoria. There were no contracts over $1 million awarded by Grampians 
Central West WRRG during the reporting period.

15.10 Protected Disclosures Act 2012
Compliance with the Protected Disclosures Act 2012
The Protected Disclosures Act 2012 (PD Act) was part of a package of 
integrity reforms introduced by the Victorian Government, which also 
established the Independent Broad-based Anti-Corruption Commis-
sion (IBAC).  The PD Act enables people to make disclosures about 
improper conduct within the public sector without fear of reprisal. It aims 
to ensure openness and accountability by encouraging people to make 
disclosures and protecting them when they do.
What is a ‘protected disclosure’? 
A protected disclosure is a complaint of corrupt or improper conduct 
by a public officer or a public body. Grampians Central West WRRG is 
a “public body” for the purposes of the Act. Protected Disclosures Act 
2012 (formerly Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001)
What is ‘improper or corrupt conduct’? 
Improper or corrupt conduct involves substantial:

• mismanagement of public resources; or 

• risk to public health or safety or the environment; or 

• corruption. 

The conduct must be criminal in nature or a matter for which an officer 
could be dismissed. 

15. Legislative Disclosures
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How do I make a ‘Protected Disclosure’? 
You can make a protected disclosure about Grampians Central West 
WRRG or its board members, officers or employees by contacting 
DELWP or IBAC on the contact details provided below. Please note 
that Grampians Central West WRRG is not able to receive protected 
disclosures.
How can I access Grampians Central West WRRG’s procedures for 
the protection of persons from detrimental action?
Grampians Central West WRRG has established procedures for the 
protection of persons from detrimental action in reprisal for making a 
protected disclosure about Grampians Central West WRRG or its em-
ployees. You can access Grampians Central West WRRG’s procedures 
on its website at: www.delwp.vic.gov.au.
Contacts
Independent Broad-Based Anti-Corruption Commission (IBAC) Victoria
Address 
Level 1, North Tower 
459 Collins Street 
Melbourne Victoria 3001.

Mail 
IBAC 
GPO Box 24234 
Melbourne Victoria 3000

Internet 
www.ibac.vic.gov.au

Phone 
1300 735 135

Email 
see the website above for the secure email disclosure process, which 
also provides for anonymous disclosures.

15.11 Compliance with Building Act 1993
Grampians Central West WRRG does not own or control any government 
buildings and consequently is exempt from notifying its compliance with 
the building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

15.12 Application and Operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982
The Grampians Central West WRRG is a State Statutory Agency under 
the Environment Protection Act 1970, and so is a ‘Government Agency’ 
under the terms of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (FOI Act 1982). 
Accordingly, it is required to comply with the procedures that have been 
prescribed under which members of the public may gain access to 
information held by agencies. A decision to release information is made 
by either the Principal Officer or an Authorised Officer. 

The Grampians Central West WRRG has determined that the Authorised 
Officer is the Executive Officer.

Information is available on request from:

Grampians Central West WRRG

Mail 
PO Box 292 
Wendouree VIC 3355

Phone 
0409 093 382

Email 
info@gcwwrrg.vic.gov.au

A $29.60 fee is applicable.

There were no requests received under the Freedom of Information Act 
1982 during the reporting period.

15.13 Additional Information Available on Request
In compliance with the requirements of the Standing Directions of the 
Minister for Finance, details in respect of the items listed below have been 
retained by Grampians Central West WRRG and are available (in full) on 
request, subject to the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 1982:

a) Declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all 
relevant officers;

b) Details of publications produced by Grampians Central West WRRG 
about itself, and how these can be obtained;

c) Details of any major external reviews carried out on Grampians Cen-
tral West WRRG;

d) Details of major research and development activities undertaken by 
Grampians Central West WRRG;

e) Details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities 
undertaken by Grampians Central West WRRG to develop community 
awareness of the entity and its services; and

f) Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged.

Information is available on request from:

Grampians Central West WRRG

Mail 
PO Box 292 
Wendouree VIC 3355

Phone 
0409 093 382

Email 
info@gcwwrrg.vic.gov.au

A fee may be charged for provision of this information.
15.14 Additional Information included in the Annual Report

Details in respect of the following items have been included in Grampi-
ans Central West WRRG’s annual report, on the pages indicated below:

a) assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational 
health and safety of employees (on page 30); and

b) a statement on industrial relations within Grampians Central West 
WRRG (on page 28); and

c) a list of Grampians Central West WRRG’s major committees; the 
purposes of each committee; and the extent to which the purposes have 
been achieved (on page 7).

15.15 Information that is not applicable to Grampians Central West WRRG
The following information is not relevant to Grampians Central West 
WRRG for the reasons set out below:

a) a declaration of shares held by senior officers (No shares have ever 
been issued in Grampians Central West WRRG; and

b) details of overseas visits undertaken (No board members or senior 
executives took overseas work related trips.)

15.16 Compliance with DataVic Access Policy
Grampians Central West WRRG has not provided any information as 
part of the DataVic Access Policy.

15.17 Compliance with Environment Protection Act 1970 (Establishing 
Act)
Grampians Central West WRRG is compliant with all current legislative 
requirements, all aspects of our Establishing Act - the EP Act 1970. Ad-
ditionally, in 2017, Minister D’Ambrosio issued a Statement of Expecta-
tions to Grampians Central West WRRG. The Group is compliant with the 
expectations set out in this document, which is available on our website.
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15.1 Attestation of compliance with Standing Direction 5.1.4  

I, Cr. Sebastian Klein, on behalf of the Board, certify that the Grampians Central West WRRG has complied with the applicable Standing Directions of the 
Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions. The Grampians Central West WRRG’s Audit and Risk Committee verifies this.

 

Chairperson – Cr. Sebastian Klein 
Signed at: Ballarat 
On 2 September 2019

16. Financial Management Compliance Attestation Statement
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